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Mission 

The mission of the Autoridade Nacional de Comunicações (National Communications Authority 

- ANACOM) is to regulate the communications sector, including electronic and postal 

communications and, without prejudice to its nature as an independent administrative entity, to 

assist the Government in these areas. 

Values 

The institutional values defined by ANACOM to support the fulfilment of its mission are: 

Independence  ̶  to fulfil its mission independently, impartially and rigorously in relation to all 

interested parties operating in the market. To be impartial in its performance and in the defence 

of consumers and to provide regular information on its performance. 

Transparency  ̶   to act transparently in the exercise of its functions and in the development of 

its activity. To be transparent in decision-making, vis-à-vis market players and the general 

public, in particular consumers of electronic communications and postal services. To actively 

involve all stakeholders in the regulatory activity. Its decisions are shared, proportionate and 

consistent. 

Excellence  ̶   to be governed by the pursuit of excellence and technical rigor in the performance 

of its mission. To seek excellence through competence, professionalism and continuous 

improvement, anticipating the evolution of the sector and the market. 

Team culture - to promote an attitude of cooperation and permanent support, fostering 

synergies, sharing experiences, opinions and resources. To belong to an organization in which 

each employee counts. Because this is the only way to make great teams.  
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NOTE FROM THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Start of a new chapter 

A new chapter in ANACOM's life began in 2017 with the appointment of the new chairman of 

the Board of Directors (BoD) in August and the resignation of the majority of the members of 

that body, whose replacement was completed in February 2018. 

This new cycle is of particular relevance because ANACOM has a fully constituted BoD under 

the new rules provided for in the framework law of regulatory entities, which have determined 

that the members of the BoD are designated by resolution of the Council of Ministers, taking into 

consideration the reasoned opinion of the competent committee of the Assembly of the Republic 

(AR). The issuance of this opinion is preceded by a hearing in that parliamentary committee and 

it must be accompanied by the opinion of the Recruitment and Selection Committee for Public 

Administration (Comissão de Recrutamento e Seleção para a Administração Pública) regarding 

the suitability of the profile of the members proposed for the duties to be performed, including 

compliance with the applicable rules regarding incompatibility and impediment.  

In this new framework, it should be noted that the opinion of the parliamentary committee on all 

the members of the Board of Directors of ANACOM in office was unanimously approved, 

reinforcing the legitimacy of this body and the obligation of its members to direct the future of 

ANACOM with total impartiality, rigour and independence in the coming years. This means fully 

guaranteeing the regulation of the communications sector, the resolute defence of services of 

general interest, the protection of consumers' rights and interests, and the promotion and 

defence of competition.  

The current BoD would like to express its appreciation to all the members who preceded them 

in the exercise of these functions, who, by their effort and commitment helped to prove the 

relevance of regulation for developing the communications sector in Portugal.  

We would also like to express the deep conviction that ANACOM's activity will continue to be 

successful in the future, as it has been from the first, thanks to the dedication and 

professionalism of its employees, who must be properly valued and encouraged. It will therefore 

be a priority to establish organizational and operational solutions that make ANACOM more 

efficient and contribute to the greater motivation of its employees, as well as the development 
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of a human resources management policy based on justice, career opportunities and the 

rewarding of merit and performance. 

Main activities in 2017 

ANACOM continued its activity in 2017 in the various areas of market analysis and regulation, 

endeavouring to ensure that its action would guarantee the competitive market essential to the 

development of postal and electronic communications in our country, always bearing in mind 

the need to ensure territorial cohesion and an appropriate response to the needs of the most 

disadvantaged sections of the population. Within this framework, increasingly special priority 

has been given to protecting the rights and interests of the consumers and end users of 

communications services.  

The huge tragedy that hit the country in 2017, as a consequence of the forest fires that affected 

many population clusters and multiple economic activities also had a significant impact on the 

communications sector, justifying special attention from ANACOM. On the one hand, it 

intervened to ensure that communications services were restored as swiftly as possible to the 

people affected and recommended operators not to request their clients to pay the contractually 

agreed amounts for the entire period when services were interrupted. On the other hand, the 

Authority has promoted the study and implementation of measures to improve the security and 

resilience of communications infrastructure and the establishment and operation of efficient 

systems to warn people in emergency situations. 

Due to their importance for the present and future of communications in Portugal, there are five 

activities that deserved special attention in 2017: 

 ANACOM has carried out rigorous and comprehensive work to assess the universal 

postal service, with a view to establishing quality indicators and performance targets, as 

well as setting prices for this service; these parameters will be in force for the 2018-2020 

triennium. 

 ANACOM ordered MEO, IN, NOWO and Vodafone to adopt corrective measures that 

involved writing to subscribers affected by contractual changes on the operators' 

initiative, in situations when the operators had failed to write to them, and simultaneously 

the contractual changes after the entry into force of Law 15/2016 of 17 June), and the 

right to terminate contracts without any charge (even if the subscribers had been subject 
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to loyalty periods or other continuity commitments), if they did not accept the 

aforementioned contractual changes. Corrective measures were ordered after ANACOM 

investigated the procedures adopted by the companies, which gave rise to the 

submission of a significant number of complaints regarding changes in the terms of the 

contracts for the provision of electronic communications services promoted by them after 

the entry into force of the last amendment to the Electronic Communications Law (ECL). 

ANACOM also determined that, alternatively, the companies could choose to restore the 

contractual conditions in operation prior to the changes they made after the entry into 

force of Law 15/2016 of 17 June. 

 The fact that many consumers have been surprised by the billing and collection through 

their mobile operators of access to WAP (Wireless Application Protocol) pages in which, 

in an allegedly inadvertent unsolicited manner they purchase entertainment content, 

justified ANACOM’s recommendation that providers only require payment when 

customers have previously and expressly authorized it through a statement on a durable 

medium. In order to take account of the rights of consumers in law in these and similar 

circumstances, ANACOM sent the Government a proposal to amend the ECL. 

 ANACOM has carried out several studies related to the need to ensure that people can 

access free television and to schedule the liberation of the 700 MHz band for mobile 

communications services connected to 5G, which will require the migration of the current 

network of digital terrestrial television (DTT) to a new network after 2020. 

 ANACOM undertook an exhaustive monitoring of the zero-rating and equivalent offers 

supplied by the mobile Internet access providers in order to assess whether some of 

these features would violate the Telecom Single Market Regulation and the Roaming 

Regulation in respect of network neutrality and roaming rules, respectively. 

 ANACOM delivered to the Competition Authority (AdC) its opinion on the merger 

between MEO and Media Capital, which would amount to a complete vertical integration 

of the value chain, incorporating in the same group the commercial relationships 

between the production of content, the wholesale provision of TV and radio channels, 

advertising, and the distribution of the television service. In its opinion, ANACOM 

concluded that the creation of significant barriers to effective competition in the various 

electronic communications markets was likely, that this would harm the final consumer 

and therefore it should not be authorized as proposed.. 
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At the same time, it is important to highlight the attention and priority given by ANACOM to its 

regular activities related to spectrum management and monitoring, inspection and oversight of 

postal and electronic communications, customer service and information, provision of 

information tools on tariffs and the measurement of Internet access speeds, and the regular 

publication of statistics.  

It should also be noted that in 2017 ANACOM concluded 243 cases of administrative offence 

proceedings opened or instigated on the basis of infringement reports that came to its notice, 

and fines of 1.7 million euros were imposed (in 2016, ANACOM imposed fines in the amount of 

966 000 euros). 

Indicators for the communications sector 

We give below some indicators that place the communications sector in Portugal quite 

favourably in the European context at the end of 2017 and which reinforce the need for it to 

pursue the trend for growth in the supply of communications services, so essential for the 

development of the country:  

 Fixed networks, which allow download speeds of 30 Mbps or higher, served 79% of 

subscribers, placing Portugal in 5th position among the 28 countries of the European 

Union (EU28).  

 In mobile broadband, the Long-Term Evolution (LTE) networks had a coverage of 98.9%, 

the 11th highest in the EU28.  

 New generation networks (NGN) coverage in rural areas reached 78.5% of households, 

compared with an average of 45.6% in the EU28. 

 The penetration of the fixed and mobile broadband Internet continued to rise, to 34.7 per 

100 inhabitants and 69 per 100 inhabitants, respectively, placing Portugal 12th among 

the 28 countries of the EU. 

 Average monthly traffic increased by 24% in fixed broadband (FBB) and 50% in mobile 

broadband (MBB).  

 The increase in the penetration of smartphones, which reached 74.9%, with 6.8 million 

users of these devices in Portugal, contributed significantly to the higher consumption of 

mobile data. 

 The convergence between fixed and mobile infrastructure was marked, and led to the 

reinforcement of the convergent offerings and the strong dissemination of the 4-Play and 
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5-Play packages. The penetration of bundled offers stands at 92 per 100 families and 

the convergent packages now account for 47% of the total. 

 Although there was a 5.1% decline in postal traffic, international inbound traffic, which 

accounted for about 5% of total postal traffic, increased by 6.5% in 2017. In particular, 

international parcel traffic increased by 17.4% in 2017. This growth is linked to the 

development of electronic commerce.  

Strict financial management 

ANACOM developed its activity in 2017 by pursuing strict management in terms of expenditure 

containment, particularly with respect to the purchase of goods and services. It should be noted 

that over the last seven years the value of these expenses has been reduced by approximately 

3.7 million euros, or almost 30%. 

The need to modernize the information and monitoring systems justified a reinforcement of 

investment in 2017, which stood at 2.4 million euros, a growth of 40% over the previous year. 

ANACOM's revenues amounted to 91.1 million euros, which is 7% more than in the previous 

year, mainly due to an increase in frequency usage rates, while expenditure amounted to 55 

million euros, that is to say, an 11% rise. However, if we ignore the increase in the provision for 

legal proceedings in progress, the increase in spending was 4%. 

Dialogue and cooperation at national and international levels 

A final word to emphasize the priority that ANACOM has given to establishing a permanent 

dialogue and close cooperation with: 

 All public and private national entities with which it interacts in fulfilling its mission: with 

the Assembly of the Republic, the Government, the Regional Governments of the 

Azores and Madeira, the other Regulatory Authorities, the Ombudsman's Office, various 

bodies of the Central Administration, local authorities and their associations, companies 

in the communications sector and their associations, consumer associations, 

universities and the many citizens who have contacted us. It is important to make clear 

the importance that is attached to the numerous working meetings held with many of 

these entities and to emphasize the enormous relevance of their participation in the 
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many public consultations that have taken place and the communications sent and 

studied. 

 All the international organizations to which it belongs, whether within the European 

Union (EU) or the United Nations (UN), and also various regional ones.  

 The Communications Regulatory Authorities of other countries, with whom it has 

maintained mutually beneficial exchanges and communications. A special word is due 

here for the cooperation with the Authorities of the Portuguese-speaking countries, 

always regarded as a priority in the international activity of ANACOM. 

Recent evidence of the reputation of ANACOM at the international level was the election at the 

end of 2017 of the chairman of the Board of Directors of ANACOM as chair of the European 

Regulators Group for Postal Services (ERGP) in 2019, and, in accordance with the operating 

rules of this Group of European Regulators, the chair of ANACOM will act as vice-chair in 2018 

and in 2020, to ensure the continuity of the work. 

The Board of Directors 

João Cadete de Matos 

João Miguel Coelho 

Isabel Areia 

Sandro Mendonça 

Paula Lourenço 
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Corporate bodies and organic 

structure  
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ANACOM Corporate Bodies 

ANACOM corporate bodies include the Board of Directors (BoD) and the Statutory Auditor. 

The BoD is responsible for determining and implementing ANACOM's activity and for managing 

its services. The Statutory Auditor is responsible for verifying the legality, regularity and sound 

financial and patrimonial management of ANACOM and for consulting the Board of Directors in 

these areas. 

Board of Directors

 

Chair 

João Cadete de Matos 

Vice-Chair 

João Miguel Coelho 

Members 

Isabel Areia 

Sandro Mendonça 

Paula Lourenço  
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Statutory Auditor 

The Statutory Auditor is responsible for checking the legality, orderliness and sound financial 

and asset management of ANACOM and for consulting the Board of Directors (BoD) in these 

areas.  

Until the appointment of the Statutory Auditor, which will be done by order of the members of 

the Government responsible for the areas of finance and communications, the Audit Committee 

remains in office as of the date of entry into force of the articles of association: 

Henrique Armando Antunes Ferreira, Chair  

OLIVEIRA, REIS & ASSOCIADOS, SROC, Lda. 

Represented by  

Joaquim Oliveira de Jesus, Member  

Duarte Nuno de Carvalho Gomes de Castro, Member  

 

  



    

 

 

  16/124 

 

Organic Structure 
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Heads of Departments and Agencies 

Board Support Department 

Fátima Aragão Botelho 

 

Litigation and Administrative Offences 
Department 

Margarida Guimarães  

 

Financial and Administrative Department 

Fernando Carreiras 

 

Inspection and Investigation Department 

António Vassalo 

 

Spectrum Management Department 

Luísa Mendes 

 

Information and Consumers Department 

Maria Teresa Caetano 
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External Affairs Department 

José S. Barros 

 

Regulation and Legal Affairs Department 

Sara Silva 

 

Market Regulation Department 

Luis Manica 

 

Communications Security Department 

Manuel Barros 

 

Azores Agency 

Luís Anselmo 

 

Madeira Agency 

José Nelson Melim 

 

  



    

 

 

  19/124 

 

ANACOM Staff 

  

Implementation of the training and leadership development program as a sustainability factor. 
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Human Resources 
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1. Human Resources 

ANACOM's priorities in 2017 were training and the development of employees, as well as 

several initiatives considered essential for their appreciation and motivation. 

Notable actions taken in the following areas: 

 building an integrated human resources information system; 

 implementation of the annual training program, based on the development of transversal, 

technical and functional skills and leadership and management skills;  

 implementation of an annual vocational and academic internship programme; 

 promotion of actions of internal mobility; 

 development of the 3rd edition of the General Management Programme. 

 

1.1. Number and qualification 

At the end of 2017, the breakdown of the distribution of ANACOM’s workforce was as shown 

below: 

Table 1.1  ̶  Human resources deployed

2017 2016 2015

1 - Permanent staff 403 400 392

2 - Requisitioned by ANACOM 0 0 0

3 - Providing services in other entities 14 12 14

4 - Fixed term contracts 0 0 0

5 - Human resources used = (1)+(2)-(3)+(4) 389 388 378

 

In 2017, ten contracts were terminated, of which six were on the initiative of the employee, two 

by mutual agreement, and one for retirement and another for the trial period.  

In spite of employment terminations and retirements, the number of employees was increased 

by the entry of younger employees with the critical skills needed to achieve ANACOM’s 

objectives and rejuvenate its staff. 
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In terms of professional qualification levels, the employee structure has stayed relatively 

constant for the last three years, with 2017 recording a slight increase in professionals with 

higher qualifications. 

 

Table 1.2  ̶  Qualification levels

2017 2016 2015

Upper management 242 240 230

Middle management 126 127 127

Qualified professionals 13 13 13

Semi-qualified professionals 8 8 8

Total 389 388 378

 

1.2. Remuneration policy 

2017 saw the complete restoration of the salary cut applied to all employees, in compliance with 

the rules provided for in Law 159-A/2015 of 30 December, which established the termination of 

that salary cut in Public Administration. 

Eight performance prizes were also awarded under Law 42/2016 of 28 December, which 

approved the state budget for 2017 (2017 SBL), while other guidance under the current policy 

of restraint remained unchanged. 

At the same time, the specific social benefits provided for in the Works Agreement and not 

included in the SBL were also unchanged.  

Of note is the new contracting of health insurance for all employees and their descendants, as 

long as they are below 25 years of age. This contract was intended to restore a social benefit of 

about 23 years and whose interruption in 2015 and 2016 occurred as a result of the Court of 

Auditors' refusal to accept the new contract for this purpose under the new statutory provisions. 

1.3. Selection and recruitment 

In 2017, 13 employees were taken on following recruitment processes approved in 2016, based 

on the needs identified and under the rules defined.  
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ANACOM maintains its commitment in the process of integrating new employees, ensuring 

continuous monitoring with a view to their training and the internalization of concepts at the 

procedural, cultural and motivational level.  

1.4. Traineeships and scholarships 

Being well aware of the need to contribute to helping young qualified people enter the labour 

market, ANACOM continued its usual annual traineeship programme throughout 2017, 

promoting training and professional opportunities within its various organizational units. This 

possibility of continuous learning allows trainees to put the knowledge acquired from their 

academic courses into practice in a real work context, incorporating the acquisition of 

professional experience and the development of skills. 

Thus, 12 vocational traineeships were initiated, which focused on the following areas of activity: 

market regulation; information on entities and offer conditions; consumer support and public 

service; communication and image; studies; European affairs; cooperation and development. 

Furthermore, 14 vocational traineeships were carried over to 2017 from the previous year. 

1.5. Training and development 

ANACOM sees training as an investment in its employees as well as a way to recognize their 

performance. 

The training and knowledge management model was consolidated in 2017 through the 

promotion of training actions in line with three main areas: 

 Transversal area - which included training aimed at developing and strengthening 

ANACOM’s transversal competences at the behavioural level, knowledge of the activity 

and of the organization, and transversal tools. 

Of particular note are three actions: ‘Management of active aging (managers)’, which 

included 36 participants, ‘Ergonomics and risk factors of computerized work’, with 176 

participants and ‘Organizational Ethics’, with 17 participants. There were 735 

participants, all told.  



    

 

 

  24/124 

 

Regular internal sessions were also held to share information on ANACOM's activity, 

prepared and moderated by employees, with a view to disseminate cross-cutting 

knowledge throughout the organization. This initiative - ANACOM Moments (Momentos 

ANACOM) - had five sessions, involving a total of 179 participants. 

 Technical-functional area – involving training actions in knowledge areas that are critical 

for the regulator’s performance. 

Particularly relevant actions were: ‘Regulations and drafting regulatory standards', with 

a total of 23 participants, ‘Preparing the future II’, with 43 participants, ‘Economic analysis 

of markets’, with 11 participants and ‘’Positive communication’, in the context of 

development of communication skills, with 23 participants. A total of 661 participations 

were registered. 

The investment in internal training actions related to spectrum management and the new 

working hours regulation should also be noted. There were 136 participants, in the first 

and 211 participants in the second. Note, too, the Saber + (Knowing +) seminars, an 

initiative designed exclusively for employees. They address current issues relevant to 

the regulation of the communications sector and involve presentations by organizations 

operating in the market, with a total of 187 participants. 

 Management and leadership area - including, in particular, the ‘Advanced Project 

Management’ actions, with a total of 21 participants, and ‘International Negotiations’ with 

31 participants, as well as the General Management Programme, whose second edition 

was completed in 2017 with 24 employees, while the third and last edition was started, 

with 23 employees taking part. 

ANACOM continued to invest in the academic development of employees through its funding of 

specialized (postgraduate), first degree and masters courses. In 2017, these initiatives included 

five employees. Mention should also be made of participation in workshops, seminars and 

conferences, not only intended to foster the exchange of experiences and discussion of 

technical issues, but also to offer opportunities to better see how the sector is evolving at the 

national and international level. Actions of this nature had 157 participants.  



    

 

 

  25/124 

 

Table 1.3 – Main training indicators

2017 2016 2015

Number of actions 217 241 210

Number of participations 1916 2447 1518

Number of training hours 18 185.1 23 699.5 16 675

Number of training hours /Average number of staff 47 61 44

Training costs (thousands of euros) 257 305 210

Training costs /Personnel costs 1.1% 1.4% 1%

Training costs /Average number of staff (euros) 668 784 556

N o te: For calculation purposes the average number of staff in 2017 was 384.  

The implementation of the training plan in 2017 represented an investment of about 256 000 

euros, with the completion of 217 training actions in a total of 1916 participations and 18 185.1 

hours of training. This corresponded to an average of 47 hours and an investment 668 euros 

of training per employee. 

1.6. Social responsibility 

Social and voluntary work continued to record the participation of employees in 2017 through 

the corporate programme ANACOM Solidária (ANACOM Solidarity).  

Notable initiatives in 2017 include: 

 campaign to support the victims of the October fires in central Portugal, with the support 

of the partners in this initiative – ENTRAJUDA and SOS Animal; 

 Equipment Bank (Banco de Equipamentos) campaign, involving the collection of 

electrical equipment for recovery, contributing to environmental sustainability and 

providing charities with more efficient resources;  

 Paper for Food (Papel por Alimentos) campaign, which converts the paper collected into 

food products that are given to charities; 

 participation of several volunteer teams in the May and December rounds of the Food 

Bank Against Hunger (Banco Alimentar Contra a Fome); 

 organization of study visits by students to the Barcarena facility to learn about radio 

spectrum management, control and monitoring; this initiative took place within the 
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partnership between ANACOM and EPIS – Empresários pela Inclusão Social 

(Entrepreneurs for Social Inclusion), an association that mediates between businesses 

and schools to 'empower young people in need to achieve their potential throughout their 

lives through education, training and employability'; 

 promotion of the campaign to collect blood and test for compatibility of bone marrow 

donors, in partnership with Instituto Português do Sangue e da Transplantação 

(Portuguese Institute of Blood and Transplants) 
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2. Investment 

2.1. Fixed assets and intangible assets 

Table 2.1 gives a consolidated presentation of the changes in total tangible and intangible 

assets, from 2016 to 2017, which recorded a 1 % increase. 

Table 2.1  ̶  Tangible and intangible assets

2017 2016

Gross fixed assets 83 748 989 81 531 143 2 217 846 3%

Accumulated depreciation and 

amortization -67 186 208 -64 749 747 -2 436 461 4%

Net fixed assets 16 562 781 16 781 396 -218 615 -1%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16

 

This trend is largely because investment in gross tangible assets and intangible assets 

(2 437 000 euros) was below the amount of depreciation and amortization in this financial year 

(2 636 000 euros). Consequently, the share of accumulated amortization versus gross fixed 

assets increased from 79% to 80%. 

This percentage of coverage is not excessive since a large part of the tangible and intangible 

assets are represented by hardware and software, which have a short service life (three and 

four years respectively) for the purpose of calculating depreciation and amortization. For this 

reason, when the maximum service life is reached, in most cases the assets are still 

technologically operational. 

Table 2.2 presents a breakdown of the above conclusions, detailing the change in the net values 

of tangible and intangible assets by main headings.  
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Table 2.2  ̶  Change in tangible and intangible assets

2017 2016

Total investment for year 2 437 459 1 745 412

Deferred costs ─ adaptation works -17 409 -13 140

Depreciation and amortization in year -2 636 206 -2 727 964

Net divestment (write-offs) -2 459 -42 746

Settlements - -4 788

Increase/(Reduction) in net assets -218 615 -1 043 226

Unit: euro  

 

2.2. Investment in the year 

Investment in 2017 followed the guidelines and goals established in the 2017-2019 business 

plan, after a careful evaluation and selection procedure, taking into account the actual need for 

it to be made.  

Table 2.3  ̶  Investment from 2008 to 2017

YEAR VALUE YEAR VALUE

2008 3 771 229 2013 1 999 264

2009 2 567 636 2014 2 587 071

2010 4 023 374 2015 2 355 091

2011 3 354 596 2016 1 745 412

2012 4 109 082 2017 2 437 459

10-Year Average 2 895 021

Unit: euro  

In absolute terms, the investment level achieved in 2017 was 40% higher than in the previous 

year, although it was 16% below the average of the last 10 years. 

As in previous years, investment was based on the permanent updating of the equipment 

required for ANACOM's activity in terms of the monitoring and control of the radio spectrum and 

laboratory work, as well as market oversight and the structure of support information systems. 

Investment policy focused on the structural investments that would maintain the high quality 
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standards and technical capacity considered essential for the oversight responsibilities, and on 

reinforcing the internal practice of careful selection of information system projects, based on 

case-by-case cost-benefit analyses.  

It should also be noted that part of the investment was intended to cover damage caused by 

lightning strikes on the stations of the (National System for Remote Control of Radioelectric 

Emissions (SINCRER), which was subsequently recovered from the insurer under the multi-risk 

insurance policy in the amount of 202 000 euros.  

The breakdown of investment by nature is as follows:  

Table 2.4  ̶  Investment by nature

2017 2016

Buildings and/or constructions 107 950 178 813 -70 863 -40%

Basic equipment 640 822 484 564 156 258 32%

Transport equipment - 220 -220 

Computer equipment (hardware) 1 039 021 371 219 667 802 180%

Other tangible assets 39 428 72 057 -32 629 -45%

Intangible assets (software) 592 829 625 399 -32 570 -5%

Adaptation works 17 409 13 140 4 269 32%

Total 2 437 459 1 745 412 692 047 40%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16

 

In short, the main areas of investment in 2017 by nature were as follows: 

(i) Investment in information systems (hardware and software), required for ANACOM’s 

activity and to improve the services provided to the market and consumers, 

accounted for the most important share of investment in 2017 (67% of the total), 

much higher than the figure for 2016 (+64%). 

(ii) Investment in basic equipment was based on technological upgrades of equipment 

supporting the technical areas of radio spectrum monitoring and control, and 

laboratories, and the replacement of equipment damaged by accidents. This 

represented the second largest share of the total investment in 2017 (26%), also 

higher than the previous year (+32%). 

(iii) The rest of the investment focused on improving conditions in owned and rented 

buildings, and on purchasing office equipment needed for the smooth running of the 
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services. Regarding the buildings and the facilities that support them, most of the 

investment resulted from restoring the operability of the SINCRER stations after 

lightning damaged the electricity network, the air-conditioning system, the earthing 

network and station surveillance equipment. This represented 5% of the total 

investment in 2017. As for administrative equipment, investment was residual and 

amounted to 2% of the total.  

A detailed analysis of the investment in each functional area shows the following:  

1) Area of radio spectrum management and laboratories: investment in 2017 was 640 822 

euros (484 564 euros in 2016), and was allocated to the following projects: 

 Project for the technological retrofitting of spectrum monitoring and control (SMC), which 

aimed to upgrade the operational services equipment for implementing spectrum 

monitoring and control actions within the required parameters of quality and reliability, 

particularly the following important acquisitions:  

̶  acquisition of a measuring receiver for the SINCRER system; 

̶  reinstallation of probes for DTT signal control. 

 Project to modernise the testing and calibration laboratory (LEC), focused on the 

technological upgrading of the equipment required for the laboratories, the most 

important interventions being: 

̶  acquisition of an automatic test system to check the compliance of DTT receivers; 

̶  acquisition of devices based on recent developments in the standardization of 

electromagnetic compatibility; 

̶  acquisition of upgrade of MetTeam Express licences to create automatic calibration and 

calibration management systems in the laboratory;  

̶  acquisition of a multimeter to improve the electromagnetic compatibility test conditions; 

̶  acquisition of a radio frequency (RF) source to validate the radiation measurement and 

improve the quality control required by ISO 17025;  
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̶  acquisition of coaxial cables to improve the sensitivity of radiation measurement. 

 Project to undertake major repairs to SINCRER, designed to modernize the stations and 

upgrade their hardware, after 20 years of usage, continuing the required 

improvements/repairs intended to repair/prevent the effects of corrosion.  

The intervention areas in which the main rehabilitation/repair work took place focused on 

restoring the operation of the Nexe station, which suffered a large-scale accident in 2015 

due to a lightning strike that damaged most of the station's equipment. In addition, 

maintenance work was carried out on other stations with much less impact, but still in a 

significant amount, particularly the Caramulo station. 

 Other current investment concerns one-off acquisitions and major repairs not associated 

with specific projects, resulting from the spectrum monitoring and control (SMC) activity. 

The purpose is to provide operational services with the proper tools for carrying out their 

specific mission. The following acquisitions are highlighted: 

̶  acquisition of attenuators for the laboratory; 

̶  acquisition of external storage disks for servers in the DTT probe network; 

̶  acquisition of a GPS module and compass to take measurements in the context of 

spectrum monitoring and control; 

̶  acquisition of various accessories in the area of radiofrequency. 

2) Area of information systems and technology (IS/IT): in which solutions were 

implemented with an overall realization value of 1 631 850 euros in 2017 (996 618 euros in 

2016), in particular: 

 Projects in the field of solutions for improving the services provided to the market and 

consumers, notably: 

̶ increase in the quantity and quality of the services provided electronically by ANACOM, 

helping to increase levels of e-Government, notably in the context of the Simplex 

programme, in particular the development and implementation of new features in 

several systems (e.g.: electronic licensing, virtual desk, etc.);  
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̶  implementation of processing mechanisms and integration with the Online Complaints 

Book platform, under the Simplex Programme, coordinated by the Direção-Geral do 

Consumidor (DGC – Directorate-General for Consumers); 

̶  implementation of new features on ANACOM's consumer portal. 

 Initiatives in the field of solutions for the internal improvement and efficiency of services, 

where the following should be noted: 

̶  developing the Integrated Plan for Technological Consolidation, in the context of 

implementing the 2015-2017 PESI (Strategic Plan for Information Systems), to 

establish an integrated approach to rationalizing all applications;  

̶  developing several software sub-systems to extend capabilities and to adapt the 

various application platforms to current needs; 

̶  producing a study on how to reduce the amount of printing and copying, as well as the 

number of printers; 

̶  upgrading the human resources/skills management system.  

 

 Projects developed in the field of technology infrastructure architecture:  

̶  developing the Integrated Plan for Technological Consolidation, in the context of 

implementing the 2015-2017 PESI to establish an integrated rationalization approach; 

̶  starting to implement the first phase of upgrading the Datacentres, an action from the 

Integrated Plan for Technological Consolidation, in the context of implementing PESI 

2015-2017; 

̶  beginning the complete upgrade of the client base, considering all desktop equipment, 

in all the organization’s geographical locations.  

3) Area of infrastructure, administrative and other equipment, with a total investment of 

164 787 euros in 2017 (264 230 euros in 2016), with particular emphasis on the following 

items: 
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 Interventions in the field of infrastructure and repairs to own buildings and facilities:  

- maintenance work on the roof and inside the main building of Barcarena, in the 

reception building and in the anechoic chamber of the laboratories; 

- repair/maintenance work on the Porto building, namely, garage walls and floor, 

perimeter fencing, metal guards of the technical ditches, access walls to the garage, 

and so forth; 

- minor works on the buildings of the agency of the Azores (installation of conduits) and 

the delegation of Madeira; 

- interventions in several SINCRER stations to restore the operation of the transformer 

stations and earthing networks damaged in accidents, notably at Nexe, where a 

lightning strike seriously damaged the facility at the end of 2015. 

 

 

 Regarding the administrative area, particular mention is made of: 

- acquisition of furniture to replace very old furniture and meet the needs of the services; 

- replacement of emergency UPS groups at the headquarters and agency of Madeira;   

- acquisition of expansion of the headquarters telephone switchboard; 

- acquisition of receivers, sound reproduction equipment, air conditioning units, and 

equipment for the head office’s bar, to meet the service’s needs and/or to replace 

broken or outdated equipment. 

 With regard to adaptation work on rented buildings, the main works focused on 

refurbishing the room partitions on several floors of the head office buildings, installing 

network access points and repairing/fitting blinds.  
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3. Economic and financial analysis 

Table 3.1 shows the overall values and changes in income, expenses and results in 2017 and 

2016. 

Table 3.1  ̶  Results

2017 2016

Income 91 149 209 100% 85 375 438 99% 5 773 771 7%

Expenses -55 035 532 60% -49 403 742 57% -5 631 790 11%

Net profit 36 113 677 40% 35 971 696 42% 141 981 0%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16

 

The profit for the financial year at the end of 2017 rose to 36 114 000 euros, around 142 000 

euros above the value in 2016. 

The following changes from 2016 to 2017 should be noted: 

 5 774 000 euros (7%) increase in ANACOM’s income. This change was mainly due to 

increased fees relating to the electronic communications activity (+1 352 000 euros), 

fees for the use of frequencies (+ 4 183  000 euros), fees for the postal services activity 

(+113 000 euros), and sundry changes (-126 000 euros). 

 5 672 000 euros (+11%) increase in ANACOM’s overall expenditure. All of the major 

expenses items contributed to this increase, particularly those over which ANACOM has 

limited control, notably from Provisions (+ 4 165 000 euros), Personnel costs (+ 844 000 

euros) and Impairments (+ 194 000 euros).  

The following points provide a detailed analysis of these changes. 

3.1. Breakdown of income 

Table 3.2 shows the overall values and changes in ANACOM’s Expenses, from 2016 to 2017, 

which represented an overall increase of 5 774 000 euros (+ 7%). 
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Table 3.2  ̶  Income

2017 2016

Electronic communications 88 004 534 82 494 411 5 510 123 7%

* Annual fees for EC activity 31 265 709 29 913 855 1 351 854 5%

* Fees for use of frequencies 55 026 501 50 865 169 4 161 332 8%

* Fees for use of numbers 1 702 324 1 707 717 -5 393 0%

* Issuance of declarations and assignment 

of rights 10 000 7 670 2 330 30%

Other service provisions 2 253 013 2 252 627 386 0%

* Annual fees for postal services activity 1 840 709 1 727 436 113 273 7%

* Citizen's band (CB) service fees 3 142 55 591 -52 449 -94%

* Fines settled 262 364 346 850 -84 486 -24%

* Other fees 146 798 122 750 24 048 20%

Other income 473 202 242 525 230 677 95%

* Allocation of investment subsidies (Note 

13) 3 890 3 890 - 0%

* Operating subsidies 125 650 137 029 -11 379 -8%

* Other fees 343 662 101 606 242 056 238%

Interest and similar income 418 460 385 875 32 585 8%

TOTAL 91 149 209 85 375 438 5 773 771 7%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16

 

Analysis of the main changes relative to previous year: 

(i) Increases 

 Annual fees for the electronic communications activity – including amounts invoiced in the 

year as well as additional amounts, debit or credit, calculated after revisions of the relevant 

income for previous years. The change in these fees from 2016 to 2017 was mainly due to 

the increase in the structure of the administrative costs of regulation related to provisions 

(+ 1 184 000 euros). The increase in provisions in 2017 results solely from operators’ 

contesting the regulation fees charged by ANACOM under current legislation. Provisions 

increased both because of new challenges by the operators and because of reinforcement 

of the coverage for cases from previous years, inasmuch as another year has gone by since 

the initial challenge. The provision has therefore been strengthened by a further 25%, until 

it reaches a 100% coverage after four years, following ANACOM’s provisions policy.  

 Fees for use of frequencies – Administrative Rule 157/2017 of 10 May established an 

increase in the amounts invoiced to operators, both in terms of terrestrial electronic 

communications services - SCET (+ 3 203 000 euros), and the fixed service, which, 
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furthermore, had an increase in the number of connection requests, (+ 1 111 000 euros) – 

see Table 3.4. 

 Annual fees for the postal service activity – the increase in 2017 (+ 113 000 euros) reflects 

the fact that the last year of the four-year transition period provided for by law has passed, 

which represents an additional 20% coverage of the administrative costs of regulation 

compared to 2016.  

 Interest and similar income - the maintenance of a high level of financial investment in the 

special short-term debt certificates (CEDIC), a product offered by the Treasury 

and Public Credit Management Institution (Instituto de Gestão do Crédito Público - IGCP), 

for most of the year, account for the positive change in this item (+ 33 000 euros). 

(ii) Reductions 

 Fines paid – the decrease in the amount settled (- 85 000 euros) results from the market 

inspection actions and the application of the penalties provided for in the law for 

unauthorized practices, which can determine increases or decreases in each financial year, 

depending on the number and severity of infringements arising from the inspection actions.  

 Citizen's Band (CB) - Decree-Law 1/2017 of 5 January eliminated the need for registration, 

and therefore the fees were only collected on existing registrations (- 52 000 euros). 

 Operating subsidies - the value of reimbursement of foreign travel for the purpose of BEREC 

and European Union (EU) meetings was lower than in 2016, as there were fewer trips, given 

that ANACOM chaired BEREC in 2016, representing the country. 

Applicable law 

(i) Annual fees for the Electronic communications activity 

The ECL establishes the legal framework governing electronic communications networks and 

services and associated facilities and services, while Decree-Law 151-A/2000 of 20 July 

establishes the rules applicable to the licensing of radiocommunications networks and stations, 

the inspection of the infrastructure of those stations and use of the radio spectrum, as well as 

the sharing of radiocommunications infrastructure. 
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The legislation that supports the collection of fees due in this context is Administrative Rule 

1473-B/2008 of 17 December, which establishes the new fee model provided for in Article 105 

of the ECL, as amended by Administrative Rule 296-A/2013 of 2 October, Administrative Rule 

378-D/2013 of 31 December, and Administrative Rule 157/2017 of 10 May. 

The fees provided for in Article 105 of the ECL are as follows: (a) issuance of statements 

supporting rights assigned by ANACOM for the exercise of the activity of supplier of publicly 

available electronic communications networks and services, allocation of rights-of-use of 

frequencies and allocation of numbers; (b) exercise of the activity of supplier of publicly available 

electronic communications networks and services; (c) use of frequencies; and (d) use of 

numbers.. 

(ii) Annual fees for Postal Service activity 

Law 17/2012 of 26 April establishes the regime of access to and the exercise of the activity of 

provider of postal services operated in competition, and Administrative Rule 1473‑B/2008 of 17 

December, as amended by Administrative Rule 296-A/2013 of 2 October, support the collection 

of fees in this context, which should be cost oriented. 

(iii) Fees for providing audiotext services 

Decree-Law 177/99 of 21 May establishes the regime of access to and the exercise of the 

activity of provider of audiotext services, whose fees were approved by Administrative Rule 

567/2009 of 27 May. 

(iv) Laboratory services provided  

Equipment testing and calibrations performed at the laboratories are services provided by 

ANACOM as part of its duties and are subject to the application of a specific tariff scheme set 

by the BoD. 

(v) Penalties  

In the course of the performance of its duties, in particular as a result of inspection actions, 

ANACOM can apply penalties in the amounts set by the BoD, in accordance with the applicable 

law. ANACOM’s articles of association, approved by Decree-Law 39/2015 of 16 March, establish 

in Article 9(1)(p) ANACOM’s powers to carry out all the acts required to take action and punish 



    

 

 

  40/124 

 

any infringements of the laws and regulations whose implementation and oversight are 

incumbent upon this Authority, as well as the outcomes of non-compliance with its decisions, 

including, when applicable, taking precautionary measures, imposing penalties, including 

penalty payments, and collecting fines. 

Electronic communications 

i) Annual regulation fees  

The calculation methodology for the regulation fees is based on the real administrative costs 

incurred by ANACOM from regulation activities, using three‑year moving averages, excluding 

the costs arising from the change in the provision for ongoing litigation, for which a five‑year 

moving average is used. These costs, accounted for in ANACOM’s activity-based costing (ABC) 

system, do not include any sum connected to ANACOM’s activities other than the regulation of 

electronic communications networks and services. The allocation of these costs to electronic 

communications network and service providers is proportional to the respective relevant income 

linked to the activity for the year preceding that in which the fees are paid. This method does 

not apply to operators whose income does not exceed 250 000 euros, to which a zero fee 

applies, or to operators with a relevant income of 1.5 million euros or less, who pay a fixed fee 

of 2 500 euros/year. 

The annual report of the regulation costs and the total fees charged as mentioned in Article 

105(1)(a) to (d) of the ECL is published annually on ANACOM’s website.  

Table 3.3 gives the breakdown of the calculation of regulation costs on which the regulatory 

administrative fees payable to ANACOM by providers of electronic communications networks 

and services were based, and which amounted to 31 290 000 euros in 2017. 
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2016 2015 2014

1. Costs of regulation and 

spectrum management 38 159 566 38 122 819 36 881 186 37 721 190 9 799 594 47 520 784

1.1 Costs relating to EC 31 832 808 31 568 558 29 707 978 31 036 448 9 762 496 40 798 944

1.1.1 Administrative costs 22 724 908 22 376 615 20 267 678 21 789 734 9 762 496 31 552 230

a) Declarations supporting rights 40 040 111 599 83 244 78 294 78 294

b) Exercise of the activity of 

provider of EC networks and 

services 22 469 348 22 088 021 20 026 086 21 527 818 9 762 496 31 290 315

c) Allocation of rights-of-use of 

frequencies 187 013 154 324 122 161 154 499 154 499

d) Allocation of rights-of-use of 

numbers 28 507 22 671 36 186 29 121 29 121

1.1.2 Frequency management 

costs 8 969 772 9 055 497 9 176 837 9 067 369 9 067 369

1.1.3 Numbering management 

costs 138 128 136 445 263 463 179 345 179 345

1.2 Postal regulation costs 1 723 198 1 870 955 1 915 994 1 836 716 37 098 1 873 814

1.2.1 Exercise of the activity of 

provider os postal services 1 706 642 1 847 974 1 907 356 1 820 657 37 098 1 857 755

1.2.2 Authorizations and licences 16 556 22 981 8 638 16 058 16 058

1.3 Other regulation costs 4 603 559 4 683 307 5 257 215 4 848 027 4 848 027

2. Other costs 2 553 541 2 538 682 2 698 567 2 596 930 2 596 930

Total costs 40 713 107 40 661 502 39 579 754 40 318 121 9 799 594 50 117 715

Unit: euro

Breakdow n 

of costs in 

2017 (w ith 

provisions 

related to EC 

and PS)

Table 3.3  ̶  Calculation of costs to determine the electronic communications regulation fee and the postal 

services regulation fee

Breakdown of ANACOM costs                                               

           (excl. provisions related to EC and PS) Provisions 

related to EC 

and PS 

(Average of 

5 years)

Average    

(3 years)

Real
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ii) Fees for the use of frequencies 

Table 3.4 presents the amounts and the comparison of the fees paid for the use of frequencies 

in 2017 and 2016, by type of service. 

Table 3.4  ̶  Fees for the use of frequencies

Mobile service 42 743 199 78% 39 512 710 78% 3 230 489 8%

Land mobile service 2 165 282 4% 2 268 515 4% -103 233 -5%

Fixed service 7 986 607 14% 6 875 816 14% 1 110 791 16%

Fixed satellite service 509 240 1% 560 056 1% -50 816 -9%

Fixed wireless service (FWA) 73 000 0% 73 000 0% - 0%

Radio broadcasting service 1 002 638 2% 1 042 949 2% -40 311 -4%

Other services 546 535 1% 532 123 1% 14 412 3%

Total 55 026 501 100% 50 865 169 100% 4 161 332 8%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/162017 2016

 

Overall, the value of the changes in these fees from 2016 to 2017 was 4 161 000 euros (+8%). 

The breakdown by service shows that the reason for the increase is the positive changes in the 

mobile service (+ 3 230 000 euros) and at the level of the fixed service (+ 1 111 000 euros), as 

already mentioned. 

Regarding the mobile service, the increase reflects the change in the tariff scheme established 

by Administrative Rule 157/2017 of 10 May, since there were no significant changes in the 

amount of spectrum used by operators. 

As for the fixed service, the increase is also mainly justified by the change in the tariff scheme 

established by the aforementioned administrative rule, although the new requests for 

connections also had a share of responsibility for the positive change recorded. 

Regarding the services with a greater reduction, the fixed satellite service stands out (- 51 000 

euros), because of the continued rationalization of the needs in this context by operators, and 

the land mobile service, given the options currently available to operators to replace large 

networks with simplex networks, which now offer the same degree of reliability (-103 000 euros). 

 

 



    

 

 

  43/124 

 

iii) Fees for the use of numbers 

The amount of the fees for the use of numbers billed in 2017 (1 702 000 euros) was in line with 

the figures for 2016, and there are no significant changes to be noted. 

Postal services 

The table with the calculation of the expenses relating to the activity of regulation of postal 

services provider is the same as that for calculating the expenses relating to exercising the 

activity of supplier of publicly available electronic communications networks and services (Table 

3.3, line 1.2).      

As stipulated in Administrative Rule 1473-B/2008 of 17 December, as amended by 

Administrative Rule 296-A/2013 of 2 October, the annual fee for engaging in the activity of postal 

services provider should be borne by the providers and be based on the costs arising from the 

activities of regulation, monitoring and inspection of postal services. This fee is based on the 

total amount of costs that are eligible each year, which correspond to the average value of the 

three years preceding that in which the fees are paid (excluding provisions for legal 

proceedings), in addition to the average value of the provisions for legal actions associated with 

the postal sector filed in the last five years. This method makes it possible to avoid major 

fluctuations in fees through changes in costs, thereby preserving the principles of foreseeability 

and transparency. 

Considering the principles of cost orientation and proportionality underlying the regime 

established by Law 17/2012 of 26 April and aiming at harmonization with the fee model already 

in force for providers of electronic communications networks and services, the above-mentioned 

Administrative Rule establishes the three contributory levels relating to engaging in the activity 

of postal services provider, according to relevant income. In this context, providers included in 

step 0, with relevant income up to 250 000 euros, are exempt from paying the fee, and providers 

included in step 1, with relevant income between 250 000 euros and 1.5 million euros, pay a 

fixed fee of 2 500 euros. Providers included in step 2, with relevant income over 1.5 million 

euros, pay a fee calculated according to their relevant income. It was also considered important 

that there should be a four-year transition period to allow the gradual adaptation by providers 

that will have to pay a higher fee than the one they paid before the transition to cost orientation, 

thus cushioning the impact of the increase of the fee charged for engaging in the activity. 
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3.2. Breakdown of expenses 

Table 3.5 shows the overall values and main changes in ANACOM’s Expenses, from 2016 to 

2017, which saw an overall increase of 5 632 000 euros (+11%). 

Table 3.5  ̶  Expenses

2017 2016

External supplies and  services 9 571 251 9 246 855 324 396 4%

* Specialised works i) 2 379 265 1 963 155 416 110 21%

* Advertising and publicity ii) 79 105 179 902 -100 797 -56%

* Surveillance and security iii) 451 778 433 226 18 552 4%

* Maintenance and repair iv) 2 259 919 2 307 422 -47 503 -2%

* Books and technical documentation v) 251 414 239 498 11 916 5%

* Energy and fluids vi) 511 834 494 910 16 924 3%

* Travel and accommodation vii) 543 222 594 091 -50 869 -9%

* Rents and leases viii) 1 617 544 1 621 375 -3 831 0%

* Communication ix) 293 470 326 559 -33 089 -10%

* Insurance x) 85 720 86 465 -745 -1%

* Cleaning, hygiene and comfort xi) 299 661 293 158 6 503 2%

* Other supplies and services xii) 798 319 707 094 91 225 13%

Personnel costs 22 811 788 21 967 730 844 058 4%

* Remuneration and charges xiii) 20 727 666 20 466 110 261 556 1%

* Other personnel costs xiv) 2 084 122 1 501 620 582 502 39%

Other costs 6 957 893 6 762 105 195 788 3%

* Subscriptions xv) 869 541 919 687 -50 146 -5%

* Meetings and conferences xvi) 188 437 149 045 39 392 26%

* Sponsorship xvii) 48 579 70 360 -21 781 -31%

* Contribuition to external entities xviii) 5 744 122 5 479 212 264 910 5%

* Cooperation xix) 81 696 85 702 -4 006 -5%

* Other xx) 25 518 58 099 -32 581 -56%

Depreciation and amortization costs 2 636 206 2 727 964 -91 758 -3%

Impairment losses 202 221 8 453 193 768 2292%

Provisions 12 856 173 8 690 635 4 165 538 48%

Total 55 035 532 49 403 742 5 631 790 11%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16
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Analysis of the main changes relative to previous year: 

Increases 

• External  supplies and services - the item Specialized works was mainly responsible for the 

increase in this type of expenditure, due to work started in 2016 which in most cases was 

completed in 2017. The increase in this item was partially offset by decreases in the items 

Advertising, Travel and accommodation and Communication. The overall increase 

amounted to 324 000 euros (+ 4%).  

• Personnel costs – the full restoration of the remuneration reductions completed in 2016, 

which fully came into effect in 2017, together with the increase in the average labour force, 

account for part of the change in this item (+ 262 000 euros). The increase in the value of 

terminations by mutual agreement and spending on health insurance, which did not occur 

in 2016, were responsible for the most significant change in the item (+ 582 000 euros). The 

overall increase in this item was 844 000 euros (+ 4%). 

• Other costs - the increase in the contribution to the Competition Authority (Autoridade da 

Concorrência - AdC), as a consequence of applying the criteria established by Decree-Law 

125/2014 of 18 August, which approved its articles of association, was greater than the 

reductions observed in most other items. The overall increase amounted to 196 000 euros 

(+ 3%).   

• Depreciation and amortization costs - a decrease of 92 000 euros (-3%), as a result of the 

majority of the investment made in 2017 having been in progress, and therefore no 

depreciation and amortization were calculated this year. 

• Impairment losses and Provisions for the financial year – analysis of the seniority of client 

accounts determined an increase 194 000 euros (+2292%), relative to the previous year.   

This was because there are many companies in insolvency proceedings whose debts 

created the impairments incurred. The increase in provisions was also higher in 2017 than 

in 2016, given the increase in the value of the challenges over payments of regulatory 

activity fees through actions brought against ANACOM, which justified an increase of 4 166 

000 euros (+ 48%).    

The breakdown and change in each expense item from 2016 to 2017 is given below. 
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External supplies and services  

   

i) Specialized works (+21%): expenses incurred in preparing studies and opinion reports, 

legal advice, audits and other provisions of service required to support the activities of 

ANACOM in specific areas where it is necessary to supplement the competences and 

expertise within ANACOM.  

Table 3.6  ̶  Specialized works

2017 2016

Studies 701 082 177 857 523 225 294%

Legal consultation 345 595 381 554 -35 959 -9%

Audits 297 418 335 297 -37 879 -11%

Supply of computer services 415 283 417 295 -2 012 0%

Translations 86 412 80 237 6 175 8%

Publications 43 228 43 033 195 0%

Other 490 247 527 882 -37 635 -7%

Total 2 379 265 1 963 155 416 110 21%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16

 

  

The increase in this item is due almost solely to changes in the item Studies, since the 

other items had no significant changes, and those there were, were almost all negative. 

In fact, several studies were awarded in 2016, most of which were carried out in 2017, 

namely: 'Residential consumer needs for consumption of postal services', 'Economic 

value of spectrum', 'Consumption of electronic communications services - SME 2016' 

and 'Costs of switching electronic communications service provider'. In addition, 

ANACOM was entrusted by the Assembly of the Republic to carry out a study on 

‘Different possibilities for further extension of DTT programme services offer’. These 

achievements had an impact in 2017, but had none in 2016. 

ii) Advertising and publicity (-56%): spending on advertising campaigns and other 

advertising related expenditure. 

The value of this item changes every year because it depends on the advertising 

campaigns undertaken. In 2017, the campaigns were restricted to small-scale actions, 

such as campaigns on the end of roaming and on the RED directive (radio equipment) 

and advertisements in newspapers to publicize the new rules for the citizen band (CB). 



    

 

 

  47/124 

 

Instead, in 2016 there were several big campaigns, notably the campaign on the new 

roaming tariff scheme set at the European level (Roaming Light), the campaign related 

to the implementation of the consumer portal, and the Alertas ANACOM (ANACOM 

Alerts) initiative, about specific sectoral matters, which reflect the main issues raised in 

complaints.  

iii) Surveillance and security (+4%): services provided by specialized companies in the 

headquarters, Barcarena and Porto facilities, and in the agencies of the Autonomous 

Regions of Madeira and the Azores.  

The increase over the previous year reflects a 1.5% update of the value of existing 

contracts, and the full effect of entering into a new contract for the Azores agency, from 

June 2016. 

iv) Maintenance and repair (-2%): services needed to ensure that ANACOM’s assets 

continue to be operational, including technical assistance contracts entered into for the 

purpose, particularly in relation to information systems, radio spectrum monitoring and 

laboratories.  

Table 3.7  ̶  Maintenance and repair

2017 2016

Software 1 420 793 1 408 029 12 764 1%

Hardware 313 856 364 465 -50 609 -14%

Basic equipment 244 040 198 239 45 801 23%

Buildings 79 771 108 093 -28 322 -26%

Vehicles 26 435 40 389 -13 954 -35%

Telephone exchange 30 631 30 795 -164 -1%

Air conditioning 56 353 57 570 -1 217 -2%

Other 88 040 99 842 -11 802 -12%

Total 2 259 919 2 307 422 -47 503 -2%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16

 

Spending in the several sub-items was generally below that of the previous year, except 

for Maintenance of basic equipment. There were several reasons for this, specifically, 

the repair of a Beverage antenna in Barcarena (+ 10 000 euros), an increased need for 

basic equipment calibration (probes, antennas, and other equipment in daily use in-

house), because this need only becomes critical every two years, and an increased need 

to carry out maintenance on the 400 DTT probes installed around the country, 

consolidated by contract.  
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Hardware maintenance spending fell, reflecting the replacement of the ‘client stock’ at 

the beginning of the year, which resulted in less need for maintenance expenses in this 

fiscal year. 

With regard to spending on other items, overall, there were lower needs than in 2016. 

v) Books and technical documentation (+5%): technical books (hard copy or electronic 

form), technical documentation, journals and other specialized publications, needed for 

ANACOM’s technical activities.  

The updating of the prices of the 'Telecommunications Barometer' and 'Gartner Core 

Connection' databases contributed to a greater extent to the increase in this heading.        

vi) Energy and fluids (+3%): expenses related to the consumption of electricity, fuel and 

water. 

Table 3.8  ̶  Energy and fluids

2017 2016

Electricity 353 836 348 232 5 604 2%

Fuel 91 605 86 465 5 140 6%

Water 62 713 56 023 6 690 12%

Other 3 680 4 190 -510 -12%

Total 511 834 494 910 16 924 3%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16

 

In general terms, expenditure increased in these items, mainly because market reference 

prices were higher, with a special emphasis on the change in fuel prices, which benefited 

from lower prices during a large part of 2016. 

vii) Travel, accommodation and transport (-9%): expenses related to travelling within the 

country and abroad for international meetings, some in representation of the Portuguese 

Government, and within the country, notably in the context of inspection and radio 

spectrum monitoring actions.  
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Table 3.9  ̶  Travel and accommodation

2017 2016

Trips abroad 238 390 297 403 -59 013 -20%

Food and accommodation (abroad) 135 681 161 051 -25 370 -16%

Abroad sub-total 374 071 458 454 -84 383 -18%

Trips within country 123 303 100 725 22 578 22%

Food and accommodation within 

country 45 848 34 912 10 936 31%

Within country sub-total 169 151 135 637 33 514 25%

Total 543 222 594 091 -50 869 -9%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16

 

Overall travel expenses decreased 9% year-on-year, with opposite changes in trips 

abroad (-18%), and travel within the country (+25%). Some of the cost of travelling 

abroad is refunded by the BEREC, European Union (EU) and other bodies. In 2017, the 

amount of these reimbursements rose to 125 650 euros. The item in question, Travel, 

only records gross expenses, without deducting these refunds which are recognized as 

income, in accordance with current accountancy rules.  

The following table shows the most important items of travel expenditure within the 

country, travel for radio spectrum and market inspections, which represent 83% of total 

travel spending within the country. 

 

Table 3.10  ̶  Travel and accommodation within the country (spectrum + markets)

2017 2016

Number of trips 3 343 3 197 146 5%

Number of days 4 476 4 378 98 2%

Total cost 

(Transportation+Accommodation+Food) 140 951 € 111 971 € 28 980 € 26%

Average cost per trip (euros) 31 € 26 € 5 € 22%

VAR 17/16

 

The increase in expenditure reflects the gradual increase in the activity, both in 

inspection actions in the context of monitoring duties and in the control of the radioelectric 

spectrum activity, particularly in the Madeira and the Azores agencies, and in the 

oversight of markets. 
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With regard to travel abroad, the table below shows details of the activity and the total 

expenses for foreign travel. 

Table 3.11  ̶  Travel and accommodation abroad

2017 2016

Number of trips 348 424 -76 -18%

Number of days 1 316 1 567 -251 -16%

Total cost 

(Transportation+Accommodation+Food) 374 071 € 458 454 € -84 383 € -18%

Average cost of transportation per trip (euros) 685 € 701 € -16 € -2%

Average cost per day 284 € 293 € -9 € -3%

VAR 17/16

 

There was a significant reduction in the number of trips and stays abroad related to the 

international representation provided by ANACOM.  

viii) Rents and leases (no change): covers the rents payable on premises where ANACOM 

has its head office, operating leases and other rentals.  

Table 3.12  ̶  Rents and leases

2017 2016

Building rents 1 224 093 1 222 591 1 502 0%

Leasing 371 327 372 364 -1 037 0%

Other 22 124 26 420 -4 296 -16%

Total 1 617 544 1 621 375 -3 831 0%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16

 

  

This item did not change significantly since slight increases in building leases (essential) 

were offset by decreases in operating leases and other leases (rooms, vehicles and other 

equipment).  

ix) Communication (-10%): includes expenses for telephones, mobile phones, postal 

services, and leased lines, etc., incurred in the head office, in Barcarena, Porto and in 

the Madeira and the Azores agencies.  

The reductions obtained in previous years in this item were achieved by renegotiating 

contracts whenever market conditions were favourable, and by maintaining a policy of 

rationalizing the telecommunication resources used by ANACOM in its headquarters and 

agencies, and the reduction of consumption.  
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x) Insurance (-1%): expenditure on insurance (multi-risk property insurance for buildings, 

vehicles, travel in Portugal and abroad, and civil liability, and so forth). 

Table  3.13  ̶  Insurance

2017 2016

Vehicles 15 819 16 051 -232 -1%

Travel 8 426 7 983 443 6%

Buildings 40 398 40 413 -15 0%

Civil liability 18 377 19 311 -934 -5%

Other 2 700 2 707 -7 0%

Total 85 720 86 465 -745 -1%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16

 

In view of the stability of premiums resulting from contracts recently entered into, the 

variation was residual (-1%) and limited only to a reduction in the premium of civil liability 

insurance which is not covered by the contract. However, it was necessary to do a 

specific extension of the travel insurance for terrorism coverage, since some meetings 

were held in areas where this is an issue. 

xi) Cleaning, hygiene and comfort (+2%): the services provided by specialized companies 

in the head office, Barcarena, Porto, and in the Madeira and the Azores agencies.  

The increase recorded in this item is due to the higher cost of cleaning services contracts, 

since these contracts provide for an increase whenever there are mandatory updates in 

the labour force that perform those services, as well as an increase in the cost with 

cleaning materials.   

xii) Other supplies and services (+13%): the supplies and services not covered by previous 

items, including tools and utensils, office supplies, condominium charges relating to the 

building on Av. José Malhoa no. 14, cafeteria supplies, newspapers, journals, technical 

magazines and publications, representation expenses, and so forth.  
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Table 3.14  ̶  Other supplies and services

2017 2016

Technical magazines 57 241 62 169 -4 928 -8%

Malhoa 14 condominium 67 846 67 283 563 1%

Office supplies 50 912 42 188 8 724 21%

Personnel allocations 292 131 224 007 68 124 30%

Transportation of goods and moves 13 477 13 557 -80 -1%

Archive deposit 29 000 28 111 889 3%

Cafeteria and gift articles 68 284 50 900 17 384 34%

Other supplies and services 219 428 218 879 549 0%

Total 798 319 707 094 91 225 13%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16

 

In these varied items, attention is drawn to the increase in the item Personnel allocations 

(+30%), Cafeteria articles and gifts (+ 34%), and Office supplies (-21%). 

The reason for the increase in the item Personnel allocations was due to the need to 

temporarily hire staff from specialized companies to meet specific needs of ANACOM's 

activity.  

 

Personnel costs 

xiii) Remuneration and costs (+1%): covers spending on the remuneration of corporate 

bodies and ANACOM’s staff, as well as the costs related to salaries (social security).  

 

Table 3.15  ̶  Remuneration and costs

2017 2016

Remunerations

Corporate bodies 895 360 1 017 015 -121 655 -12%

Personnel 16 531 265 16 226 363 304 902 2%

17 426 625 17 243 378 183 247 1%

Costs over remuneration 3 301 041 3 222 732 78 309 2%

Total 20 727 666 20 466 110 261 556 1%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16

 

Overall remuneration increased 1% as a result of the full effect in 2017 of the gradual 

salary reinstatements carried out up to October 2016. It should be noted that this 

increase was also the result of the 0.8% increase in the average number of staff, since 

in 2016 there were three fewer employees). This increase was mitigated by the fact that, 

for part of the year, ANACOM's BoD operated with only three directors, since the 
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mandates of three directors were terminated and only one was appointed, which meant 

that the increase was less marked.  

xiv) Other personnel costs (+39%): includes the cost of post-retirement benefits, social 

welfare costs, notably those arising from the agreements celebrated with CTT, S.A. and 

Portugal Telecom, S.A., in the area of illness prevention, hygiene and safety at work, 

accident insurance at work, training costs, and sundry personnel costs such as those 

provided for in the collective labour negotiation regulation (ARCT).  

 

Regarding the items with larger increases, Contract terminations by mutual agreement and 

Social welfare costs are noteworthy. In the first case, it should be noted that in 2017, contract 

terminations by mutual agreement took place involving much higher amounts than in 2016, 

which has led to a very significant variation resulting from the unpredictability of the annual 

entries under this heading, due to its specific nature. In the second case, the increase in 

expenditure reflects the fact that in 2017 health insurance contracts were resumed for all 

ANACOM employees, apart from those from the former CTT. They had been interrupted in 2016 

because the Constitutional Court rejected the prior approval the contract with Companhia de 

Seguros Fidelidade.  

Regarding the changes in Post-retirement benefits, it is important to mention that they reflect 

the results of the actuarial studies carried out by independent specialized companies every year. 

 

Table 3.16  ̶  Other personnel costs

2017 2016

Post-retirment beneifts

Pension costs (Note 15) 659 184 587 985 71 199 12%

Healthcare costs (Note 15) 140 972 172 972 -32 000 -19%

800 156 760 957 39 199 5%

Social welfare costs 663 219 284 449 378 770 133%

Contract terminations by mutual agreement 247 565 38 638 208 927 541%

Work accident insurance 82 368 81 316 1 052 1%

Training 256 588 305 808 -49 220 -16%

Other personnel costs 34 226 30 452 3 774 12%

Total 2 084 122 1 501 620 582 502 39%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16
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Other Costs  

xv) Subscriptions (-5%): spending on fees payable to national and international postal and 

telecommunications bodies (ITU, UPU, UPAEP, ECO/CEPT, ETSI, IRG, URSI, etc.), 

mostly in representation of the Portuguese Government. 

Table  3.17  ̶  National subscriptions

2017 2016

Lisboa E-Nova  ̶  Agência de Energia e Ambiente 

de Lisboa - 12 500 -12 500 -100%

Associação Portuguesa para o Desenvolvimento 

Comunicações (APDC) 2 500 2 500 - 0%

Associação para as Comunicações, Eletrónica, 

Informações e Sistemas de Informação para 

Profissionais (AFCEA Portugal) 800 800 - 0%

Associação de Laboratórios Acreditados de 

Portugal (RELACRE) 659 659 - 0%

Associação para a Promoção e Desenvolvimento 

da Sociedade de Informação (APDSI) 250 250 - 0%

Associação Portuguesa dos Bibliotecários (BAD) 180 180 - 0%

Associação Portuguesa para a Qualidade (APQ) 500 500 - 0%

The IT Service Management Forum (ITSMF) 150 150 - 0%

Total 5 039 17 539 -12 500 -71%

Unit: euro

VAR 17/16

 

In 2017, ANACOM maintained a number of institutional partnerships with national bodies 

of sectoral relevance, as listed in the previous table, with a view to promoting the 

communications sector.  
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Table 3.18  ̶  International subscriptions

2017 2016

International Association of Portuguese Speaking 

Communications (AICEP) 12 500 12 500 - 0%

Association of Communications and 

Telecommunications Regulators of the 

Community of Portuguese Speaking Countries 

(ARCTEL) 12 000 12 000 - 0%

International Telecommunications Union (ITU) 430 622 458 963 -28 341 -6%

Universal Postal Union (UPU) 146 274 150 807 -4 533 -3%

European Communications Office (ECO/ECPT) 87 876 87 430 446 1%

Postal Union of the Americas, Spain and Portugal 

(UPAEP) 101 348 100 890 458 0%

European Telecommunications Standards 

Institute (ETSI) 58 492 63 460 -4 968 -8%

Independent Regulators Group (IRG) 13 000 13 000 - 0%

International Union of Radio Science (URSI) 2 090 2 070 20 1%

R&TTE Compliance Association - 250 -250 -100%

ISACA Association (Information Systems) - 166 -166 -100%

Red Compliance Association (REDCA) 300 500 -200 -40%

IEEE computer society membership - 112 -112 -100%

Total 864 502 902 148 -37 646 -4%

VAR 17/16

 

These subscriptions are part of ANACOM’s international activity, mostly in the areas of 

regulation and advising the Government. It aims to actively participate in the 

development of the European Union (EU) internal market, and in the coordination and 

defence of positions in different forums. 

The activities derived from ANACOM’s presence in these organizations are quite broad, 

and are properly detailed in the Report on Regulation, Supervision and Other Activities 

produced every year and available on the ANACOM website.  

Under this item, exchange rate differences determined the changes in contributions paid 

to the ITU and UPU, since the participation units remained the same. 

 

xvi) Meetings, conferences and exhibitions (+26%): expenses related to national and 

international events promoted by ANACOM or by international organizations. Examples 

include meetings of working groups, and conferences and seminars organized in the 

communications sector. 
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xvii) Sponsorships (-31%): costs related to sponsorships awarded as part of ANACOM’s 

sectoral activities, through various quid pro quos, including publicizing the sector and its 

activity, and training. 

The amount recorded under this item fell considerably compared to the previous year, 

following the policy of greater selectivity and cost containment implemented by 

ANACOM. Some sponsorships awarded in previous years were terminated, and others 

were awarded in lower amounts. 

xviii) Contributions to external bodies (+5%): 

Fundação Portuguesa das Comunicações (no change): the value of ANACOM’s annual 

contribution is limited to a maximum amount which is the average of the amounts 

transferred in 2008, 2009 and 2010, under the current law. This maximum also includes 

the assignment of ANACOM staff. Having stabilized the number of employees working 

for the Foundation, the lower amount paid as the annual contribution was offset by the 

higher contribution for personnel expenses, as the full effect of the salary restitution came 

into force 

Competition Authority (+ 5%): the increase in this sub-item results from the fact that, in 

calculating the value of the contribution made under Article 35 of AdC’s articles of 

association, the calculated amount was higher than the 2016 contribution. This Decree-

Law provides that 6.25% of ANACOM's eligible income for the previous year will be the 

Authority’s contribution to AdC for the year. As the value of the eligible income in 2016 

was higher than in 2015, the value of the 2017 contribution reflected this increase.   

xix) Cooperation (-5%): expenses related to cooperation initiatives with Portuguese-speaking 

countries, notably traineeships of representatives of those countries. 

Expenditure on cooperation fell year-on-year, both in the cooperation with the 

Associação dos Reguladores de Comunicações e Telecomunicações dos Países de 

Língua Portuguesa (Association of Portuguese-speaking Communications and 

Telecommunications Regulators (ARCTEL-CPLP) and in the cooperation with the 

Portuguese-speaking countries, because there were no requests from them. 

xx) Other (-56%): expenses not covered by the previous items, including unfavourable 

exchange rate differences and expenses not included in the other items. 
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The decrease in this item is mainly due to the fact that there were significant exchange 

differences in 2016, which were not repeated in 2017.  

Depreciation and amortization costs for the year 

The item Depreciation and amortization costs for the year fell by -3% (-92 000 euros) in 2017, 

relative to 2016, and the increase of the amount of fixed assets in progress, from 530 000 euros 

to 1 879 000 euros (+ 1 349 000 euros) was crucial, technical validations to enable them to 

come into operation are awaited. This contributed crucially to the reduction in the value of this 

item, since fixed assets in progress are not subject to a depreciation calculation. 

Impairment losses  

Analysis of customer balances, according to the criteria in point 3.7 of the Notes to the 2017 

Financial Statements, established the need to strengthen the impairments (202 200 euros), a 

value higher than the one in 2016 (8 700 euros). 

This increase is mainly due to the growing detection of insolvent debtor companies, which led 

to the calculation of 100% impairments in these situations. 

Provisions for legal proceedings in progress 

Legal actions have been brought against ANACOM, mainly challenging regulation activity fees, 

but also challenging decisions taken as part of the market regulation activity and the invoicing 

of radio service fees. In this context, almost all the legal actions brought by operators against 

ANACOM in recent years have been challenges of regulatory settlement decisions. 

The claims for compensation in these actions are quite high and proper provisions should 

therefore be made, according to the current accountancy rules. 

The criteria followed in recent years were used in 2017 to establish provisions, notably: 

i) regarding the amounts sought in legal proceedings challenging regulatory acts, the provision 

is estimated based on a greater or lesser assessment of risk; 

ii) regarding legal proceedings involving claims concerning the amounts of fees for the use of 

frequencies, the provision corresponds to 100% of the amount claimed and/or owed; 
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iii) with regard to the amounts sought in actions for the settlement of regulation administration 

fees, given the particular nature of these challenges it is considered that the provision should 

cover the entire sum claimed in a four-year period, after which cut-off point tax recovery is no 

longer possible.  

On the basis of the events recorded in 2017 and on the criteria listed above, ANACOM has 

updated the value of accumulated provisions for ongoing litigation, increasing their amount by 

12 856 000 euros. This amount for provisions reflects an increase of 4.2 million euros (+48%) 

relative to the increase in the value of the provision in 2016. 

3.3. Financial situation 

In 2017 there was an increase in Liabilities (+14 413 000 euros), mostly due to the strengthening 

of the Provisions for the financial year (+12 856 000 euros). Additionally, there was an increase 

in Equity (+7 526 000 euros), essentially  because the amount of net profits for allocation in 

2015, following Administrative Rule 89/2017 of 1 March (-28 794 000 euros), was lower than the 

amount of the 2017 net profit (+36 114 000 euros). Because of these two factors, the relative 

share of Equity in the balance sheet fell from 59% to 57%. 

 

Table 3.19  ̶  Balance sheet structure

2017 2016

Total assets 100% 100%

Non-current assets 7% 8%

Current assets 93% 92%

Total Equity + Liabilities 100% 100%

Equity 57% 59%

Liabilities 43% 41%

 

Notwithstanding the above-mentioned changes in ANACOM's balance sheet structure, it 

remains a solid and consistent financial structure, achieved over the last few years, allowing the 

assurance of the financial autonomy provided for in its articles of association, a basic condition 

to ensure the independence of the regulator.  
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Proposed allocation of profits 
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4. Proposed allocation of profits 

Following the practice of previous years, it is proposed that the net profit for the year ended on 

31 December 2017, amounting to 36 113 677.79 euros, should be assigned as follows: 

 Delivery to the State of the sum of 14 258 239.68 euros, which represents the increase in 

the fees for use of frequency set out in Administrative Rule 378-D/2013 of 31 December 

(+10 732 936.84 euros), and Administrative Rule 157/2017 of 10 May (+3 525 302.84 

euros). 

  Distribution of the rest, in the amount of 21 855 438.11 euros, as follows: 

̶ Investment reserves, in the amount of 2 530 849.03 euros (interest obtained in the 

IGCP + 10% of the remaining amount), to be used in the constitution of statutory capital, 

pursuant to Administrative Rule 1534-A/2002 of 23 December; 

̶ Delivery to the State in the amount of 19 324 589.08 euros (90% of the remaining 

amount), which will be recorded under the Retained earnings item until such time as 

the transfer is done. 

ANACOM recommends that the portion to be delivered to the State, which totals 33.6 million 

euros, should be used to develop communications in Portugal for the benefit of end users. 

 

 

. 
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5. Financial statements 

5.1. Balance sheet as at 31 December 2017 (euros) 

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Tangible fixed assets 8 14 738 820 14 474 572

Intangible assets 7 1 823 961 2 306 824

Other receivables 10 865 865

16 563 646 16 782 261

Currents assets

Customers 9 1 262 233 1 570 189

State and other public entities 16 194 -   

Advances to suppliers 17 974 -   

Other receivables 10 794 513 481 471

Deferrals 11 1 744 503 1 348 569

Other financial assets 5 70 000 000 183 900 000

Cash and bank deposits 5 136 964 785 1 327 020

210 784 202 188 627 249

Total assets 227 347 848 205 409 510

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY

Other reserves 13 54 026 546 51 822 015 

Retained earnings 13 32 520 395 27 337 252 

Other changes in equity 13 6 464 661 6 468 551 

Net result for period 36 113 677 35 971 696 

Total equity 129 125 279 121 599 514 

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 14 81 638 216 68 782 043 

Liabilities due to post-employment benefits 15 8 118 009 8 145 374 

89 756 225 76 927 417 

Current liabilities

Suppliers 1 442 822 905 880 

State and other public entities 16 772 010 835 766 

Other payables 17 6 251 512 5 140 933 

8 466 344 6 882 579 

Total liabilities 98 222 569 83 809 996 

Total equity and liabilities 227 347 848 205 409 510

Description 31.12.2017Notes 31.12.2016

 

The notes below constitute an integral part of the financial statements presented above. 

         THE FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE DIRECTOR                             THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
                  Fernando Carreiras 
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5.2. Income statement by nature for the period ending 31 December 2017 (euros) 

INCOME AND EXPENSES

Services provided 90 257 547 84 747 038

Operating subsidies 125 650 137 029

External supplies and services -9 571 251 -9 246 855

Personnel costs -22 811 788 -21 967 730

Impairment of receivables (losses/reversals) 12 -202 221 -8 453

Provisions (increases/reductions) 14 -12 856 173 -8 690 635

Other income 347 552 105 496

Other costs -6 957 893 -6 762 105

Results before depreciation, financing expenses,  and tax 38 331 423 38 313 785

Costs/reversals of depreciation and amortization 18 -2 636 206 -2 727 964

Operating results (before financing costs and taxes) 35 695 217 35 585 821

Interest and similar income 20 418 460 385 875

Net result for period 36 113 677 35 971 696

Description 31.12.2017 31.12.2016Notes

 

The notes below constitute an integral part of the financial statements presented above. 

       THE FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE DIRECTOR                             THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
                   Fernando Carreiras 
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5.3. Statement of changes in equity in the period ending 31 December 2017 (euros) 

Other 

reserves

Retained 

earnings

Other 

changes in 

equity

Net result 

for period Total 

As at 31 December 2015 49 127 991 37 881 054 6 472 441 30 998 540 124 480 026

Changes in periods

Other changes recognized in equity

- Employee benefits (Note 15) -1 079 095 -1 079 095

- Donations -    

- Subsidies (Note 13) -3 890 -3 890

-    -1 079 095 -3 890 -    -1 082 985

Net result for period 35 971 696 35 971 696

Comprehensive result -    -1 079 095 -3 890 35 971 696 34 888 711

Capital operations in period

Allocation of 2014 results 2 694 024 -40 463 247 -37 769 223

Other operations

- Transfer of results of previous period 30 998 540 -30 998 540 -    

2 694 024 -9 464 707 -    -30 998 540 -37 769 223

As at 31 December 2016 51 822 015 27 337 252 6 468 551 35 971 696 121 599 514

Changes in period

Other changes recognized in equity

- Employee benefits (Note 15) 209 987 209 987

- Donations -    

- Subsidies  (Note 13) -3 890 -3 890

-    209 987 -3 890 -    206 097

Net result for period 36 113 677 36 113 677

Comprehensive result -    209 987 -3 890 36 113 677 36 319 774

Capital operations in period

Allocation of 2015 results (note 13) 2 204 531 -30 998 540 -28 794 009

Other operations

- Transfer of results of previous period 35 971 696 -35 971 696 -    

2 204 531 4 973 156 -    -35 971 696 -28 794 009

As at 31 December 2017 54 026 546 32 520 395 6 464 661 36 113 677 129 125 279

 

The notes below constitute an integral part of the financial statements presented above. 

        THE FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE DIRECTOR                              THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
                  Fernando Carreiras 
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5.4. Statement of cash flows for the period ending 31 December 2017 (euros) 

Cash flows from operating activities

Receivables from clients 90 345 998 92 982 628

Payments to suppliers -9 131 689 -9 000 569

Payments to personnel -22 602 661 -21 636 956

Cash flow generated by operations 58 611 648 62 345 103

Other receivables 25 918 202 25 387 562

Other payments -32 711 609 -31 894 475

Other receivables/payments -6 793 407 -6 506 913

Net cash flows from operating activities 51 818 241 55 838 190

Cash flows from investment activities

Payments related to:

 Tangible fixed assets -1 212 198 -1 170 875

  Intangible assets -498 470 -799 571

Receivables from

  Tangible fixed assets 13 051 64 336

  Interest and similar income 411 150 824 810

Cash flows from investment activities -1 286 467 -1 081 300

Cash flows from financing activities

Payments related to:

  Allocation of 2015 results (Note 13) -28 794 009 -37 769 224

Net cash flows from financing activities -28 794 009 -37 769 224

Change in cash and cash equivalents 21 737 765 16 987 666

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 5 185 227 020 168 239 354

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 5 206 964 785 185 227 020

Description 31.12.2017 31.12.2016Notes

 

The notes below constitute an integral part of the financial statements presented above. 

         THE FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE DIRECTOR                            THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
                  Fernando Carreiras 
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6. Notes to the financial statements 

1. Identification of the organization and reporting period 

The Autoridade Nacional de Comunicações (National Communications Authority – 

ANACOM) has its head office at Av. José Malhoa no. 12, in Lisbon. 

The new articles of association of ANACOM, approved by Decree-Law 39/2015 of 16 

March, became effective on 1 April 2015. ANACOM’s articles of association were thus 

adapted to the framework-law of regulatory authorities (Law 67/2013 of 28 August), 

incorporating the powers conferred on this authority through sundry legislation, in particular 

the Electronic Communications Law (ECL) and the Postal Law. The articles of association 

now state expressly that ANACOM is the national regulatory authority (NRA) for the field of 

communications, for the purposes stated in EU and national legislation. 

ANACOM is a legal person under public law, an independent administrative authority by 

nature, endowed with administrative, financial and management autonomy, and having its 

own assets (Article 1); it is not subject to Government superintendence or oversight in the 

performance of its duties (Article 5), and its mission is to regulate, supervise and represent 

the communications sector under the terms of the mentioned articles of association and 

other applicable legislation.  

In addition, it is responsible for advising the Assembly of the Republic, when requested, and 

assisting the Government, upon request or on its own initiative, regarding the definition of 

strategic guidelines and general communications policies, suggesting or proposing policy 

or legislative measures, and also for representing the Portuguese Government, in 

coordination with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, in relevant national and international bodies 

(Article 8(2)).  

It is ANACOM's mission to regulate, supervise and inspect the communications market in 

order to ensure that all citizens are provided with a diverse choice of and universal access 

to (electronic and postal) communications services, in a market whose conditions foster 

innovation, investment, and efficient service provision, ensuring quality at affordable prices 

for end consumers, and contributing to the development of the European Union (EU) 

internal market. 
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ANACOM also has the duty of guaranteeing compliance with the rules applying to the 

sector, as well as the obligations to which electronic and postal communications operators 

are subject, and the efficient management of use of the radio spectrum. 

ANACOM provides technical participation and sectoral representation of the Portuguese 

Government in international organizations, keeps abreast of communications regulation 

experiences abroad and establishes relationships with other regulatory bodies. 

It is also the regulator’s duty to cooperate with other public and private entities in promoting 

scientific research applied to communications. Furthermore, it should raise awareness 

about the sector nationally and internationally, promoting technical standardization in 

cooperation with other entities in the communications sector and associated fields, and 

cooperate in the definition of public emergency planning policies for the communications 

sector, technically supporting the organizations and services which are responsible for the 

establishment and management of the integrated emergency communications network. 

ANACOM’s legal framework was tailored to its mission and responsibilities and is a mixed 

regime that combines the prerogatives of public law essential for the performance of its 

authority duties with the flexibility and efficiency of private law.  

The management principles which ANACOM must respect should be noted (Article 7(1) of 

the Articles of Association): 

 exercise of its activity according to high quality standards; 

 assurance of efficiency and economy in its management and in the solutions 

adopted in its activities; 

 management by determined and quantified objectives, and periodic evaluation of 

results; 

 transparency in its operations; 

 respect for the principles of previous spending commitments and programming. 

These financial statements were approved by the BoD at its meeting of 5 April 2017. It is 

the opinion of the BoD that these financial statements provide a true and proper picture of 

the operations of ANACOM, as well as its position, financial evaluation and cash flows. 

2. Accounting principles for the preparation of the financial statements 
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2.1 Basis of preparation 

The financial statements were prepared in the context of the legal norms in force in Portugal, 

in accordance with the accounting standardization system (SNC), as stated in Decree-Law 

158/2009 of 13 July, and in accordance with the conceptual framework (Notice 15652/2009 

of 7 September), accounting and financial reporting standards (Notice 15655/2009 of 7 

September), and established interpretation standards (Notice 15653 of 7 September). They 

reflect the amendments set out in Decree-Law 98/2015 of 2 June, Administrative Rule 

218/2015 of 23 July, Administrative Rule 220/2015 of 24 July, and Notice 8256/2015 of 29 

July.  

The financial statements were prepared assuming the continuity of operations while 

maintaining an appropriate presentation through the application of and conformity with the 

applicable accounting and financial reporting standards (NCRF), including the accounting 

policies, in order to provide relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information. 

Additional disclosures are provided whenever the standards contained in the NCRF might 

be insufficient to allow their full understanding 

The financial statements cover a period that coincides with the calendar year and are in 

accordance with accrual basis accounting. 

The SNC requires the use of estimates, assumptions and critical judgements in the process 

of determining the accounting policies to be adopted by ANACOM, with significant impact 

on the accounting value of assets and liabilities, and on income and expenses in the 

reporting period. Although these estimates were based on the best expectations with 

respect to future and current events and actions, and on studies conducted by companies 

with expertise in certain specific subject matters, current and future results may differ from 

these estimates. Those areas involving a greater element of judgement or complexity, and 

areas in which assumptions and estimates are significant for the financial statements are 

presented in Note 4.17. 

  



   

 

  70/124 

 

2.2 Exemption from the provisions of the SNC  

During the course of the financial year to which these financial statements relate, no 

exceptional circumstances occurred that would directly imply an exemption from any 

provision of the SNC. 

2.3 Comparability of the financial statements  

The information contained in these financial statements is entirely comparable with the 

previous financial year, which is presented for comparison purposes in these financial 

statements.  

4. Principal accounting policies  

The principal accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements are 

those described below. These policies have been systematically applied to all years 

presented unless otherwise indicated. 

4.1 Currency conversion 

 

4.1.1 Functional and presentation currency 

The financial statements of ANACOM and these Notes are presented in euros, unless 

stated otherwise. 

4.1.2 Transactions and balances 

Transactions in currencies other than the euro are converted into the functional currency at 

the exchange rates on the date of the transaction. The exchange rate gains or losses 

resulting from payment/receipt transactions and from conversion at the exchange rate on 

the date of the balance sheet, of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies are recognized in the income statement. 

4.1.3 Exchange rates used 

The foreign currency rates used to convert balances expressed in foreign currency are as 

follows: 
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Table 6.1  ̶  Currencies

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

US dollar 1.1960 1.0520

Swiss franc 1.1670 1.0718

Note: the values presented in the table represent the value of 1 euro in 

currency unit.

 

4.2 Intangible assets  

Intangible assets are entirely made up of software for ANACOM’s use (see Note 7) and are 

recognized and measured: (i) at purchase price, including costs related to intellectual 

property rights and non-refundable taxes on purchases, after deducting trade discounts and 

rebates; and (ii) any expenses directly attributable to the preparation of the asset for its 

intended use. 

ANACOM values its intangible assets after initial recognition using the Cost Model, as 

provided for in NCRF 6 – Intangible assets, which requires that an intangible asset should 

be carried at its cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment 

losses. 

Intangible assets with a defined useful life are amortized on a systematic basis from the 

date on which they are available for use over the estimated useful life. ANACOM has no 

intangible assets with indefinite useful life. Software is amortized over three years. 

4.3 Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible assets are valued at acquisition cost, based on no. 29 of Financial Accounting 

Reporting Standard 7 (NCRF7) - Tangible fixed assets, which allows the option of using 

acquisition cost as valuation method, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 

losses.  

Tangible assets transferred from the former CTT and acquired directly by ANACOM up to 

31 December 1992 were revalued prior to the date of transition to the SNC (1 January 2009) 

according to the legal provisions and official monetary depreciation coefficients (Note 8). 
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The acquisition cost includes the purchase price of the asset, costs directly attributable to 

its acquisition, including non-deductible taxes, and charges incurred in preparing the asset 

so that it is in proper condition for use. 

Subsequent expenses incurred as a result of renovations and major repairs which increase 

the useful life or productive capacity of the asset are recognized in the cost of the asset or 

recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 

associated economic benefits will flow to the entity and when the cost can be reliably 

measured. The carrying amount of the replaced part is not recognized on the balance sheet. 

Expenses related to repairs and maintenance of a current nature that are not likely to 

generate additional future economic benefits, are recognized as an expense in the period 

in which they are incurred.  

The expenses resulting from adaptation works in rented buildings are recognized as an 

expense in the period according to the rental period provided for in the respective contracts. 

The philatelic property, whose value was determined based on an assessment made before 

the date of transition to the SNC, is not subject to depreciation but it is subject to impairment 

tests. In the 2015 financial year the philatelic property was counted and subsequently 

valued at market prices (on the date of the inventory) by a qualified independent assessor, 

and the conclusion was there were no impairments to be recorded (see Note 8). 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line 

method from the date on which they become available for use. The useful life estimated for 

the most significant tangible assets is as follows:  

Table 6.2  ̶  Useful live of tangible assets

Years

Buildings and other constructions Between 10 and 50 years

Basic equipment Between 5 and 10 years

Transport equipment Between 4 and 7 years

Tools and utensils 4 years

Administrative equipment Between 4 and 10 years

Other tangible assets Between 1 and 10 years  

The useful life of assets is reviewed as of each financial reporting date so that the reported 

depreciation conforms to the consumption patterns of the assets. Changes to the useful life 

are treated as an accounting estimate alteration and are applied prospectively. 
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Gains or losses in disposal of assets are determined by the difference between the 

realization value and book value of the asset, and are recognized in the income statement.  

4.4 Leases 

Leases are classified according to their substance and not the type of contract. 

Leases are classified as financial when all risks and expenses related to the ownership of 

the asset are transferred to the lessee, and there is compliance with the provisions in NCRF 

9 ─ Leases.  

Other leases are classified as operational, also pursuant to the provisions in this NCRF.  

ANACOM only holds operational leases, and the payments are recognized as an expense 

on a linear basis over the leasing period.  

4.5 Impairment of assets 

Assets with a defined useful life are tested for impairment whenever events in or alterations 

to surrounding conditions indicate that the value at which they are registered in the financial 

statements is not recoverable.  

When impairment is recorded or reversed, amortization and depreciation of the assets are 

recalculated prospectively in accordance with the recoverable value. 

4.6 Financial assets and liabilities 

ANACOM determines the classification of financial assets and liabilities on the date of initial 

recognition, in accordance with NCRF 27 – Financial Instruments. 

4.7 Customers and Other receivables  

The items Customers and Other receivables constitute receivables from fees paid by 

ANACOM and other sundry income. They are initially recognized at fair value or amortized 

cost, less impairment losses (Notes 9 and 10). 

Impairment losses of customers and accounts receivable are recorded whenever there is 

objective evidence that they are not recoverable. The usual collection proceedings include 

sending a notice, three days prior to the end of the time limit for payment, to all customers 



   

 

  74/124 

 

with invoicing over 5000 euros; sending a first letter of notice to all customers after the non-

payment of the invoice on the specified date; and sending a final warning letter after the 

legally demandable surcharge has been generated, if payment has not been made after 90 

days. As for customers domiciled in the national territory, after the aforementioned recovery 

proceedings have been exhausted, the outstanding debts are analysed and if there are no 

reasons to justify the failure to pay, then these outstanding debts are sent to the respective 

Finance Service with a debt certificate for enforced recovery. 

In terms of impairment calculation there are three separate situations: 

(i) Natural persons domiciled in national territory    

Impairment is established on failure to pay on the date stipulated in the invoice, since 

the collection rate for this kind of debt is very poor.  

(ii) Legal persons domiciled in national territory 

Impairment is established after the customer's failure to respond to the final warning 

letter, since the collection rate is much higher than with natural persons. 

 

(iii) Natural and legal persons domiciled abroad 

Impairment is established after lack of payment on the date specified in the invoice, 

since ANACOM has no access to effective means of enforcing payment, whereas it 

does with customers domiciled in national territory, where there are tax offices. 

Therefore, failure to pay on the date stipulated in the invoice is deemed sufficient 

reason to consider the debt as non-recoverable, regardless of whether steps are taken 

to effectively collect it.  

In all cases, debts in litigation, contested debts, debts under appeal, companies in 

bankruptcy and other situations where there is strong probability that debts will not be 

recovered are always subject to the determination of impairment.  

Identified impairment losses are recorded in the income statement under Impairment of 

receivables, and are subsequently reversed to results if the indication of impairment no 

longer exists (Note 12). 
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4.8 Cash and cash equivalents  

For ANACOM, cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits and financial assets 

(Note 5). These are recorded as current assets if they mature in less than a year. Otherwise, 

and/or if it is not possible to mobilize them, they are recorded in Non-current assets. 

4.9 Suppliers and Other payables 

The items Suppliers and Other payables are obligations to pay for acquired goods or 

services and are initially recognized at fair value or at their amortized cost, less impairment 

losses (Note 17).  

4.10 Post-employment benefits 

ANACOM staff who came from former CTT were covered by that company’s defined 

retirement benefits and survivor pension plan on the date of their transfer, which correspond 

to the (Caixa Geral de Aposentações) CGA Plan, a pension scheme for civil servants, and 

continued to enjoy this right after their transfer. ANACOM took on the responsibility for this 

plan (Note 15.1).   

On 23 October 2003, ANACOM approved the creation of a fixed contribution supplementary 

pension plan for all staff covered by Social Security, having decided in 2008 to extend this 

to the rest of the workers with open-ended contracts, with effect from 1 January 2008. Both 

plans are managed by pension fund management entities (Note 15.2). 

Employees who came from former CTT (CTT in its old form, which included postal service 

and telecommunications) are not covered by social security assistance and benefits; 

instead they are insured by CTT’s Instituto das Obras Sociais (IOS - Institute for Social 

Works), and ANACOM has taken on the healthcare responsibilities inherent to this situation 

(Note 15.3). 

4.10.1 Defined benefits plan – Retirement and survivor pension plan and healthcare 

The retirement and survivor pension plan covering ANACOM staff transferring from former 

CTT is the current CGA Plan, which is a defined benefits plan, not included in the balance 

sheet, and was constituted as an autonomous fund to finance liabilities. The balance sheet 

only reflects the financing surplus/deficit (see Note 15, Table 6.17). 
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The healthcare plan for retired employees who are covered by the IOS is a defined benefit 

plan without a constituted fund, whose liabilities are reported on the balance sheet.  

Liabilities related to the payment of these benefits are estimated annually by independent 

actuaries and are calculated using the projected unit credit method. The present value of 

the defined benefit obligation was determined by discounting the future payment of benefits, 

using the interest rate for high-rating bonds, denominated in the same currency in which the 

benefits would be paid, close to the maturity of the actual liability. 

The liabilities/assets to be recognized in the balance sheet relative to healthcare liabilities 

during retirement and to the retirement and survival pension plan correspond to the present 

value of the obligation of the defined benefit determined at the date of the balance sheet, 

less the fair value of the plan’s assets. 

Recognition of actuarial deviations 

Actuarial deviations arise from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 

assumptions.   

ANACOM recognizes all calculated actuarial gains and losses for all plans in force directly 

in equity, as reported in the Statement of changes in equity. Gains and losses resulting from 

costs or gains in the current services of a defined benefit plan are recognized in the period 

in which they occur. 

4.10.2 Defined contribution retirement pension plan  

The defined contribution plan established by ANACOM for its entire staff is financed by 

ANACOM and by the employees. ANACOM has no additional responsibilities beyond the 

contributions to be made in respect of past services. The contributions are recognized under 

Personnel costs in the period to which they relate. 

4.11 Subsidies from the EU or other entities 

Non-refundable investment subsidies are initially recognized under the item Equity – Other 

changes in equity, and are subsequently credited in the income statement according to the 

depreciation of the assets to which they relate (Note 13). 
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Operating subsidies from the EU or other entities are recognized as income by their receipt 

value in the income statement in the period in which the related expenses are incurred and 

recorded, provided they are known in due time. 

4.12 Revenue 

ANACOM’s revenue corresponds to the fair value of the amount received or receivable in 

respect of the settlement of different fees stemming from legislation related to the regulation 

of the communications sector, postal sector, and other applicable legislation. 

The different fees applied by ANACOM essentially correspond to: (i) fees arising from the 

ECL (Electronic Communications Law); (ii) fees in respect of the activity of providing postal 

services; (iii) administrative fees and fees for use of the amateur radio service; and (iv) other 

registration and subscription fees. 

Revenue from these fees is recognized in the period to which they relate, regardless of the 

date of receipt. 

4.13 Revenue from financial investments  

Revenue relating to interest or other income to be recognized in each period in respect to 

assets is determined according to the effective interest rate method. 

4.14 Accrual basis  

ANACOM’s income and expenses are recorded in accordance with the principle of accruals, 

whereby they are recognized as they accrue, regardless of when they are received or paid. 

The differences between the amounts received and paid, and the corresponding generated 

income and expenses are reported under the items Other accounts payable/receivable and 

Deferrals. 

4.15 Surcharges and late-payment interest 

Non-payment of fees which are due under the ECL and other applicable legislation within 

the stipulated time limit determines the charging of late-payment interest and surcharges, 

where applicable, by legal imposition which is binding upon ANACOM. These values are 

recognized by ANACOM only when their receipt becomes effective, always adopting 

prudence, considering the risks of non-collection. 
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4.16 Fines receivable 

One of ANACOM’s powers is that of oversight of compliance with laws, regulations, 

standards and technical requirements applicable to the communications sector, the breach 

of which is often deemed an administrative offence. In this context, it is incumbent upon 

ANACOM to instigate, investigate and decide on infraction proceedings within its jurisdiction 

and impose the respective fines. 

In most cases, 40 % of the value of the fines is retained by ANACOM and 60% is transferred 

to the State. 

These values, too, are recognized by ANACOM when they have actually been received. 

4.17 Critical estimates and judgements  

Estimates and judgements having an impact on the financial statements of ANACOM are 

continuously evaluated and represent, on the date of each report, the best estimate, taking 

into account the performance history, cumulative experience and expectations about future 

events that are deemed reasonable under the circumstances. 

The intrinsic nature of the estimates may, for the purposes of financial reporting, result in a 

difference between the real reflection of the situation analysed and the estimated amounts. 

The estimates and judgements that involve significant risk of material adjustment to the 

carrying value of assets and liabilities during the next financial year are those that follow: 

4.17.1 Provisions, liabilities and contingent assets  

ANACOM periodically examines any obligations arising from past events that warrant 

recognition or disclosure. 

The subjectivity inherent to determining the likelihood and the amount of resources required 

for the settlement of obligations may lead to significant adjustments, particularly in relation 

to ongoing legal proceedings and to contingencies, as referred to in Notes 14 and 23. 

Provisions are recognized upon verification of all the following conditions: i) a legal or 

constructive obligation exists, arising from past events; ii) there is a high probability that an 

expenditure of internal resources will be required for the settlement of this obligation; and 

iii) the amount can be reasonably estimated (Note 14).  
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If one of the criteria is not met, no provision is constituted, but ANACOM discloses the fact 

as a contingent liability, unless it is considered there is only a remote possibility of the 

outflow of funds for its payment. 

Provisions are reviewed on the balance sheet date and are adjusted to reflect the best 

estimate on that date. 

Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial statements but disclosed in the Notes 

when it is probable that there will be a future economic benefit. 

4.17.2 Actuarial assumptions 

The determination of liabilities in respect of retirement pensions and healthcare requires the 

use of assumptions and estimates of a demographic and financial nature, which may 

significantly influence the amount of liabilities on each reporting date. The most sensitive 

variables relate to the discount rate used to update the liabilities, the rate of wage increase, 

and the mortality tables. 

Additionally, liability in respect of the defined benefit retirement and survivor pension plan 

is subject to legislation relating to the articles of association of the Caixa Geral 

Aposentações (CGA) and the General Social Security Scheme (Regime Geral da 

Segurança Social), so that any amendments to this legislation could lead to a material 

variation in that liability. 

4.17.3 Fixed assets and intangible assets 

The determination of the useful life of assets as well as the method of 

depreciation/amortization to be applied is essential to determine the amount of 

depreciation/amortization to be recognized in the income statement of each financial year.  

These two parameters are defined according to the best judgement that is made with 

respect to the assets in question. 

4.17.4 Impairment  

The determination of any impairment loss may be prompted by the occurrence of various 

events, many of which are beyond ANACOM’s control. 
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The identification of impairment indicators, estimated future cash flows and determination 

of the fair value of assets implies a high degree of judgement by ANACOM regarding the 

identification and evaluation of various impairment indicators, the expected cash flows, 

applicable discount rates, useful lives and residual values. 

In particular, the periodic analysis of the accounts receivable balances may give rise to the 

need to record impairment losses, which are determined based on available information 

and estimates made by ANACOM of the expected receivable cash flows. 

4.17.5 Events after the balance sheet date  

Material events after the balance sheet date that relate to the situations reported on the 

balance sheet are recognized and/or disclosed in the financial statements.  

5. Cash flows  

5.1 Cash and cash equivalents not available for use 

ANACOM has no balance of cash or cash equivalents subject to restrictions of use for the 

financial periods presented. 

5.2 Breakdown of the values reported in the item cash and bank deposits 

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the values for cash and bank deposits 

were as follows:  

Table 6.3  ̶  Cash and bank deposits

2017 2016

Cash

- Cash 40 929 38 148

Bank deposits 136 923 856 1 288 872

- Demand deposits

  Agência Gestão Tesouraria Dívida Pública (IGCP) 136 911 371 1 225 182

  Other banks (commercial bankig)) 12 485 63 690

Other financial assets

- CEDIC 70 000 000 183 900 000

Net financial resources 206 964 785 185 227 020

Unit: euro   

Following a recommendation of the Court of Auditors, from 2014 ANACOM kept most of the 

cash it held in IGCP (the Treasury and Public Debt Management Agency - Agência de 
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Gestão da Tesouraria e da Dívida Pública), with respect to both demand deposits and the 

financial investments in the product provided by the said credit institution, named CEDIC 

(Special Short-Term Debt Certificates - Certificados Especiais de Dívida de Curto Prazo). 

These investments are recorded under Other financial assets. 

Private banking is only used for operations that are not provided by IGCP and situations 

that aim to guarantee the operation of ANACOM services. 

It should also be noted that in the middle of the year the IGCP started to apply an interest 

rate equal to zero to the CEDIC applications, which is why ANACOM stopped making this 

type of investment, instead choosing to keep available funds in the current account.   

It should be noted that these cash and cash equivalents essentially have two objectives:  

(i) to deliver to the State part of the net profit related to previous years with respect to which 

the administrative rules that apply the results and/or determine the allocations of the 

amounts distributed have not yet been published;  

(ii) to deal with future predictable and contingent obligations, in particular those related to 

ANACOM’s operation and investment cycle and those resulting from compensation sought 

in legal actions brought against ANACOM for which suitable provisions have been made for 

ongoing legal actions.  

6. Tax 

Under the terms of Article 1(1) of its articles of association, ANACOM is a legal person 

governed by public law, an independent administrative body endowed with administrative, 

financial and management autonomy and its own assets.  

Accordingly, ANACOM enjoys exemption from the payment of corporate income tax (IRC) 

as one of the entities included in the provisions of Article 9(1)(a) of the IRC Code. It is also 

exempt from stamp duty pursuant to article 6(a) of the Código do Imposto do Selo (Stamp 

Duty Code). As regards value added tax (VAT), because ANACOM has activities both 

subject to and not subject to VAT, the pro rata regime provided for in Article 23 of the Code 

applies. Value added tax (VAT) paid by ANACOM in the acquisition of goods and services, 

which is not recoverable, is reported under the respective items of costs and tangible and 

intangible fixed assets in the income statement and in the balance sheet. 



   

 

  82/124 

 

7. Intangible assets  

During the financial years ending 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the 

movements reported under the intangible assets items were as follows: 

Table 6.4  ̶  Intangible assets

Software Other

In 

progress Total

Acquisition cost

Balance as at 1 January 2016 19 948 132 - 857 738 20 805 870

Acquisitions 440 909 - 184 490 625 399

Disposals - - - - 

Transfers and w rite-dow ns 429 751 - -566 640 -136 889

Balance as at 31 December 2016 20 818 792 - 475 588 21 294 380

Acquisitions 284 070 - 251 957 536 027

Disposals - - - - 

Transfers and w rite-dow ns 56 803 - 56 803

Balance as at 31 December 2017 21 159 665 - 727 545 21 887 210

Accumulated amortisation

Balance as at 1 January 2016 17 875 667 - - 17 875 667

Amortizations during period (note 18) 1 111 889 - - 1 111 889

Disposals - - - - 

Transfers and w rite-dow ns - - - - 

Balance as at 31 December 2016 18 987 556 - - 18 987 556

Amortizations during period (note 18) 1 075 693 - - 1 075 693

Disposals - - - - 

Transfers and w rite-dow ns - - - - 

Balance as at 31 December 2017 20 063 249 - - 20 063 249

Net value as at 31 December 2016 1 831 236 - 475 588 2 306 824

Net value as at 31 December 2017 1 096 416 - 727 545 1 823 961

Unit: euro  

Intangible assets include investments made in software over the years. 

Transfers from assets in progress to the intangible assets item in 2017 relate to completed 

software projects, specifically the database of entities (BDE-freguesias – Entity database – 

parishes), the online complaints Book, and the update to NET.Mede. 

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, specific projects in progress are as shown below: 
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Table 6.5  ̶  Projects in progress

Description 2017 2016

Market Information System project (SIM) 398 763 318 356

Projects for the internal improvement of services (GIAF, 

Plage, BDE, Public accounting, billing,  MyWs, SAAS, ITED) 100 430 143 657

Server Park 182 774 - 

Other 45 578 13 575

Total 727 545 475 588
 

8. Tangible fixed assets 

During the financial years ending on 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the 

movements reported under the tangible assets items were as follows: 

Table 6.6  ̶  Ativos tangíveis

Terrenos

Edifícios e 

outras 

construções

Equipam. 

básico

Equipam. de 

transporte

Equipamento 

 adminis-

trativo Outros

Ativos em 

curso Total

Custo de aquisição

Saldo a 1 de janeiro de 2016 1 325 259 14 534 914 28 113 446 1 049 875 6 474 124 8 390 714 108 439 59 996 771

Aumentos - 178 813 463 938 220 390 998 52 278 20 625 1 106 872

Alienações - - - -88 600 - - - (88 600)

Transferências e abates - -56 768 -129 519 -1 121 -458 357 -57 959 -74 556 -778 280

Saldo a 31 de dezembro de 2016 1 325 259 14 656 959 28 447 865 960 374 6 406 765 8 385 033 54 508 60 236 763

Aumentos - 107 949 484 873 - 84 911 31 540 1 097 322 1 806 595

Alienações - - - -20 150 - - - -20 150

Transferências e abates - -15 350 -66 646 - -68 316 -11 117 - -161 429

Saldo a 31 de dezembro de 2017 1 325 259 14 749 558 28 866 092 940 224 6 423 360 8 405 456 1 151 830 61 861 779

Depreciação acumulada 

Saldo a 1 de janeiro de 2016 - 11 623 569 24 228 290 998 626 6 264 924 1 986 943 - 45 102 352

Depreciação do exercício (nota 18) - 237 136 1 173 918 24 988 141 926 38 107 - 1 616 075

Alienações - - - -69 219 - - - -69 219

Transferências e abates - -33 404 -199 288 -1 121 -595 245 -57 959 - -887 017

Saldo a 31 de dezembro de 2016 - 11 827 301 25 202 920 953 274 5 811 605 1 967 091 - 45 762 191

Depreciação do exercício (nota 18) - 246 533 1 029 343 4 275 241 371 38 991 - 1 560 513

Alienações - - - -18 891 - - - -18 891

Transferências e abates - -14 150 -87 271 - -68 316 -11 117 - -180 854

Saldo a 31 de dezembro de 2017 - 12 059 684 26 144 992 938 658 5 984 660 1 994 965 - 47 122 959

Valor líquido a 31 dezembro 2016 1 325 259 2 829 658 3 244 945 7 100 595 160 6 417 942 54 508 14 474 572

Valor líquido a 31 dezembro 2017 1 325 259 2 689 874 2 721 100 1 566 438 700 6 410 491 1 151 830 14 738 820

Unidade: euros  

The items Land and Buildings report the infrastructure belonging to ANACOM located in 

Barcarena, Porto, Pinheirinhos da Azóia, and the Autonomous Regions of Madeira and the 

Azores. 

Under the item Basic equipment all equipment is reported which is necessary for the 

Authority’s function of inspection of the communications sector which ANACOM is bound to 

undertake according to its articles of association, whether conducted centrally (fixed) or in 
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the field (mobile), including spectrum monitoring, as well as laboratory equipment required 

for testing its own equipment or that of external entities. 

The item Transport equipment includes a share of the vehicles that belong ANACOM’s fleet 

while the rest are vehicles deployed under an operational leasing regime, which are needed 

for outdoor inspection actions. 

The main component of the item Administrative equipment is information technology 

equipment (hardware) although it also records all equipment and devices of an 

administrative nature used at ANACOM, including sundry furniture, receivers, sound and 

image devices, etc. 

Other tangible assets includes the philately collection from Portugal’s former overseas 

colonies (Ultramar) which was removed from the State’s private domain and included in the 

assets of ANACOM in 1998 under provision 2 of Joint Order 325/97 of 18 September 1997, 

of the Minister for Equipment, Planning and Territorial Administration and the Minister of 

State, published in the Diário da República (the official gazette) no. 226, 2nd Series, of 30 

September 1997. This Order prohibits any disposals of this asset without prior permission 

from the Government minister responsible for the communications sector. The initial value 

of the philatelic property was established on the date of that Order and recorded as a 

reserve in equity (Note 13). Later, in 2005, the value was updated to 6 820 414 euros, and 

stood at 6 249 144 euros as at 31 December 2016, after the occurrence of an accident in 

2010. 

The philatelic property is not depreciated but it is subject to periodic impairment tests. With 

the adoption of the SNC, the reserve related to this asset was reclassified to the item Other 

changes in equity.  

In the 2015 financial year the philatelic property was recounted and revalued by a qualified 

independent assessor. The conclusion was that these assets were not impaired since the 

current value given by the evaluation exceeds the balance sheet value. In 2017 there was 

a new counting, by sampling, which found no reason to change the existing situation. 

Therefore, and considering that ANACOM values tangible fixed assets at acquisition cost, 

a valuation method that it has used over the years, based on no. 29 of Financial Accounting 

Reporting Standard 7 (NCRF 7), and in accordance with the principle of consistency, the 

accounting value of the philatelic property was unchanged. 
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Assets in progress reports all assets that cannot yet be exploited because they are in test 

or acceptance phase, though they exist at ANACOM. On 31 December 2017 assets in 

progress were as follows: 

Table  6.7  ̶  Projects in progress

Description 2017 2016

Test system for checking the compliance of DTT 

receivers 150 369 - 

NET.MEDE connection 27 869 - 

Renewal of time clock registration terminals 17 883 - 

Server Park 916 246 - 

Other 39 463 54 509

Total 1 151 830 54 509

Unit: euro

 

Transfers of assets in progress to other tangible fixed assets items in 2017 relate to basic 

radioelectric equipment for the monitoring and control of the radio spectrum. 

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets is reported in its entirety under the item Costs/reversals 

of depreciation and amortization in the income statement. 

It is also important to mention that as at 31 December 2017, the sum of 7 972 473 euros in 

tangible fixed assets was held by third parties, including 6 249 144 euros in respect of the 

philatelic property from the former Portuguese overseas colonies (Ultramar), in the custody 

of Fundação Portuguesa das Comunicações. 

 

9. Customers 

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the breakdown of Other receivables was 

as follows:  
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2017 2016

Current Current

Customers 1 505 394 1 654 452

Use of frequencies  368 539 426 705

Regulation and numbering  1 089 544 1 174 503

Other 47 311 53 244

Customers – doubtful receivables 3 417 608 3 384 296

Use of frequencies  1 636 723 1 628 448

Regulation and numbering  266 098 240 990

Other 1 514 787 1 514 858

Customers ─ Total 4 923 002 5 038 748

Impairment losses (Note 12) -3 660 769 -3 468 559

1 262 233 1 570 189

Unit: euro

Table 6.8  ̶  Customers

Net value

 

For the periods presented, no differences are reported between book value and fair value. 

10. Other receivables 

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the breakdown of Other receivables is 

as follows: 

Table 6.9  ̶  Other receivables

Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

Accrued income

Receivable interest 246 750 - 246 750 244 195 - 244 195

Other 344 110 - 344 110 77 760 - 77 760

590 860 - 590 860 321 955 - 321 955

Other amounts due

Values to be settled 202 374 202 374 136 672 136 672

Other 1 279 865 2 144 22 649 865 23 514

203 653 865 204 518 159 321 865 160 186

Total 794 513 865 795 378 481 276 865 482 141

Unit: euro

20162017

 

The item Interest includes the amount of interest due from ANACOM financial investments, 

which will be received in a future period.   

Values to be settled records the amounts to be settled by staff with respect to healthcare 

situations, since ANACOM ensures the management of the receipts and payments in this 

context, and other situations to be regularized with employees. 
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The item Other records the remaining residual situations. 

11.  Deferrals 

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, ANACOM reported the following 

Deferrals balances:  

Table 6.10  ̶  Deferrals

2017 2016

Expenses do be recognized

Meal allowances 102 540 101 928

Rents and leases 130 426 130 426

Insurance premiums 449 593 91 253

Renovation of facilities 11 675 14 809

Subscriptions 824 974 775 145

Publications 87 377 120 896

Maintenance of SAS licensing 26 525 17 164

Other services 111 394 96 948

Total 1 744 504 1 348 569

Unit: euro  

The item Meal allowances reflects the allowance paid in advance in December but relating 

to the next year.  

The item Rents and leases includes rental values for 2018, paid in advance in 2017. 

Insurance premiums are also invoiced and paid in advance. In the current year, not all policy 

premium receipts were issued in advance by the insurer, and the issuance of the health 

insurance receipt should also be noted, since it did not happen in 2016.  

The breakdown of this item as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is as follows: 

Table 6.11  ̶  Insurance premiums

2017 2016

Vehicles - 15 819 

Travel insurance 7 694 8 426 

Property 1 820 36 442 

Accidents at work 20 512 20 507 

Health 409 499 - 

Civil liability 7 362 7 357 

Other 2 706 2 702 

Total 449 593 91 253 
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The item Renovation of facilities states the deferral to subsequent years of costs relating to 

renovation works in rented buildings. The costs were broken down based on the period 

fixed in the corresponding rent contract. 

Under the Subscriptions item, values are recorded as at 31 December 2017 and 31 

December 2016, with reference to contributions paid or invoiced in the financial period but 

relating to the next period, broken down as follows: 

Table 6.12  ̶  Subscriptions

2017 2016

International Telecommunication Union (UIT) 435 021 430 622 

Universal Postal Union (UPU) 147 252 140 209 

European Communications Office (ECO/CEPT) 87 808 87 876 

Postal Union of the Americas, Spain and Portugal (UPAEP) 76 023 101 348 

International Union of Radio Sciences(URSI) 2 110 2 090 

Electronic Communications Standards Institute (ETSI) 63 460 - 

Other 13 301 13 000 

Total 824 974 775 145 

Unit: euro  

The item Maintenance of SAAS licensing in table 6.10 relates to expenditure arising under 

multi-year maintenance contracts agreed with these brand-owning companies, chargeable 

to the following years, with a view to ensuring the operational status of the equipment and 

licences covered by the contracts, whose validity periods differ from the calendar year. 

12 .  Impairments  

The change recorded for the years 2017 and 2016 in the balances of impairment losses are 

as follows: 

 

Table 6.13  ̶  Impairments

Customers 

As at 1 January 2016 3 460 175

Increase 8 453

Usage -69

As at 31 December 2016 3 468 559 (nota 9)

Increase 202 221

Usage -10 011

As at 31 December 2017 3 660 769 (nota 9)

Unit: euro  
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13 .  Reserves and other equity items  

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the details of the balances of the equity 

items were as follows: 

Table 6.14  ̶  Reserves and other equity headings

2017 2016

Other reserves

Investment reserves 52 284 618 50 080 087

Other reserves 1 741 928 1 741 928

54 026 546 51 822 015

Retained earnings

Staff benefits (Note 15) -6 486 316 -6 696 303

1st time adoption of SNC 3 035 015 3 035 015

Transfer of the net result 35 971 696 30 998 540

32 520 395 27 337 252

Other changes in equity

Reserve - philatelic property (Note 8) 6 249 144 6 249 144

Donations 109 780 109 780

Subsidies 105 737 109 627

6 464 661 6 468 551

Net result for period 36 113 677 35 971 696

Total 129 125 279 121 599 514

Unit: euro  

The Investment reserves item reflects the cumulative amount of the portion of the retained 

earnings in this item over the years. With the publication of Administrative Rule 89/2017 of 

1 March, these reserves were reinforced in the sum of 2 204 531 euros. 

The Retained earnings item reflects the accounting movements performed for the adoption 

of the SNC and the option of recognizing in equity the actuarial gains and losses recorded 

in the actuarial studies in respect of the pension and healthcare fund, and the non-invested 

earnings from previous years. 

The main change recorded in this item derives from the distribution of the net profits for the 

financial year 2015, in accordance with the said administrative rule, which involved transfers 

of 30 998 540 euros, of which the sum of 28 794 008 euros was for the State. 

The accumulated deficit resulting from the accounting adjustments made to the BPI-

Pensões defined benefits retirement and survival pension plans was reduced by 209 987 

euros as a result of the studies of the pension fund (+ 216 986 euros) and healthcare (-7000 

euros), as explained in Notes 15.1 and 15.3. 
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The item Other changes in equity refers to non-refundable investment subsidies in respect 

of tangible fixed assets (Note 4.11), the amount of a donation valued at market value, and 

the philatelic property from the former Portuguese overseas colonies (Ultramar), included 

in the assets of ANACOM under Tangible fixed assets (Note 8).  

The change in investment subsidies in the 2017 and 2016 financial years is detailed below: 

Table 6.15  ̶  Investment subsidy

As at 1 January 2016 113 517

Increases - 

Recognition in results -3 890

As at 31 December 2016 109 627

Increases - 

Recognition in results -3 890

As at 31 December 2017 105 737

Unit: euro  

Subsidies are recognized annually as income under Other income and gains. 

 

 

14 . Provisions 

The change in Provisions in the financial years 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

Table 6.16  ̶  Provisions

Provisions 

for legal 

proceedings

60 091 408

Increases 8 817 764

Reductions -127 129

Addition 8 690 635

68 782 043

Increases 12 856 173

Reductions - 

Addition 12 856 173

81 638 216

Unit: euro

As at 31 December 2017

As at 31 December 2016

As at 1 December 2016
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The provision corresponds to the estimated liability arising from the risk inherent in legal 

actions brought by various entities against ANACOM (Note 4.17). As at 31 December 2017 

there were 155 legal actions ongoing, most of which were brought against ANACOM 

challenging acts undertaken as part of the regulatory activity in the area of electronic 

communications, acts undertaken as part of the regulatory activity in the area of postal 

communications, and acts contesting fee settlement. Of these lawsuits, 86 include claims 

for compensation. 

The changes reported in the 2017 financial year were: 

i) the instigation of 27 new actions, 18 of them with sums requested, involving 

disagreement with the settlement of fees relating to the regulation of electronic 

communications and postal services, issued by ANACOM from 2013 to 2016; 

ii) termination of seven cases, none of which with amounts claimed; 

iii) continuation of the other cases carried over from 2016. 

To sum up, based on events in 2017, ANACOM had to update the value of the accumulated 

provision for ongoing legal processes by increasing it by 12 856 173 euros. 

It should be noted that the value of this reinforcement stems fundamentally from the 

coverage of challenges relating to regulation fees, new and existing lawsuits, where full 

coverage had not already been provided. 

15 . Retirement and healthcare benefit obligations 

As mentioned in Note 4.10, ANACOM has assumed liabilities in respect of a retirement and 

survivor pension plan provided to staff transferring from the former CTT and a healthcare 

plan for employees not covered by Social Security, with both plans being defined benefit 

plans. In addition to these plans, a defined contribution pension plan is in force. 

At 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 and in the years ended on those dates, the 

balances and expenses and income relating to these plans in the financial statements were 

as follows: 
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2017 2016

Defined benefit pension plan (Note 4.10) 3 835 009 3 916 374

Defined benefit healthcare plan 4 283 000 4 229 000

Total 8 118 009 8 145 374

Unit: euro

2017 2016

Defined benefit pension plan 370 270 300 726

Defined contribution pension plan 303 640 300 491

Defined benefit healthcare plan 140 972 172 972

Total 814 882 774 189

Unit: euro

Tale  6.18  ̶  Expenses / (Income) in income statement

Table 6.17  ̶  Liabilities in balance sheet ( + or - )

 

2017 2016

Defined benefit pension plan -216 987 1 466 095

Defined benefit healthcare plan 7 000 -387 000

Total -209 987 1 079 095

Unit:euro

Table 6.19  ̶  Actuarial (gains) and losses recognized in equity

 

15.1 Defined benefit pension plan 

Staff of ANACOM transferring from the former CTT were covered at the date of their transfer 

by the retirement and survivor pension plan in force at that company, which corresponds to 

the CGA plan (pension plan for civil servants), and they still enjoy this right in accordance 

with Article 28 of Decree-Law 283/89 of 23 August. As such, ANACOM assumed 

responsibility for the payment of retirement pensions of the personnel transferring from the 

former CTT, most of whom joined its workforce in August 1991. On 1 October 1996, 

ANACOM established an autonomous Pension Fund to cover and fund liabilities for pension 

payments. 

Under this plan, the members of staff who are covered are entitled to a retirement pension 

determined under the Social Security rules for the period after 31 December 2005 and, for 

the previous period, according to the rules of the articles of association of the CGA, set out 

in a formula that takes into consideration the average earnings for the last three years. The 

plan includes the following conditions: 

• normal retirement age – age established in the Social Security general scheme; 
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• maximum pensionable time of service – 40 years; 

• pensionable salary – average monthly wages subject to discount earned over the 

last three years (basic salary, seniority payments, flexible working and shift 

allowance); 

• Social Security pension – scheme in force up to 31 December 1993;  

• retirement pension – P = TS/40 x SPx80% + PSS, where: 

P = monthly retirement pension; 

SP = Pensionable salary in 2005 revalued pursuant to Article 27(1) of Decree-Law 

187/2007 of 10 May, with the maximum limit of 12 times the indexante de apoios 

sociais (IAS – social support index); 

TS = Number of years of effective service in addition to service recognized up to 

31.12.2005; 

PSS = Pension reckoned according to the rules of the general Social Security 

scheme, considering the time after 31.12.2005 until retirement; 

• number of payments – pensions are paid 14 times per year. 

The liabilities with defined benefits and the corresponding annual costs were determined 

through actuarial calculations, using the projected credit unit method, carried out by an 

independent actuary based on assumptions that reflect the demographic conditions of the 

population covered by the plan and the economic and financial conditions prevailing at time 

of calculation. 

According to the actuarial study conducted by the company managing this Pension Fund – 

BPI Vida e Pensões, Companhia de Seguros S.A. – the present value of liabilities for past 

service of active and retired staff, transferring from the former CTT and recruited into 

ANACOM was estimated at 29 602 387 euros, as at 31 December 2017.  

The actuarial study was based on the following assumptions: 
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Table 6.20  ̶  Assumptions in actuarial studyl

2017 2016

Annual discount rate
1.86% 2.00%

Salary annual growth rate

Pension annual growth rate

Indexante de apoios sociais (IAS - 

social support index) growth rate

Salary revaluation rate

Calculation of Social Security pension

Social Security normal retirement age

Salary growth rate for purposes of 

calculating social security pension

Seniority bonuses

Staff turnover rate

Decrements in active life

Invalidity table

Mortality table

Age 66 and two months/three months in 2016/2007, 

respectively. In the following years Eurostat projections for 

the Portuguese population

French TV 88/90 Table

Due to death or disability

Swiss EKV80 Table

Projected for the normal retirement age

In the absence of any reliable statistics, and with an attitude 

of prudence, a 0% turnover rate was assumed

0.50%

1.50%

1.00%

1.25%

1.50%

Decree-Law 187/2007 of 10 May and Decree-Law 167-

E/2013 of 31 December were deemed to apply

 

The effect on the liabilities of changes to the discount rate in 2017 was an increase in the 

amount of 516 889 euros.   

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the sum of liabilities recognized in the 

balance sheet is as follows: 

Table 6.21  ̶  Recognized liabilities

2017 2016

Present value of liabilities 29 602 387 29 160 636 

Fair value of fund assets 25 767 378 25 244 262 

Surplus/Deficit -3 835 009 -3 916 374

Unit: euro  
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Movement in the years 2017 and 2016 in the current value of liabilities in respect of the 

pension plan was as follows: 

Table 6.22  ̶  Present value of liabilities

2017 2016

As at 1 January 29 160 636 28 037 264

Cost of current services 440 556 400 409

Cost of interest 581 828 669 878

Payment of benefits -1 019 571 -1 052 171

Changes in assumptions 516 889 1 446 877

Other actuarial (gains)/losses -77 951 -341 621

As at 31 December 29 602 387 29 160 636

Unit: euro  

In the 2017 and 2016 financial years, the value of the fund linked to this plan was as follows: 

Table 6.23  ̶  Value of fund

2017 2016

As at 1 January 25 244 262 25 677 953

ANACOM contributions 234 648 209 758

Employee contributions 148 613 156 306

Benefits paid -987 130 -1 016 365

Real return on fund assets 1 126 985 216 610

As at 31 December 25 767 378 25 244 262

Unit: euro  

The effect on the income statements for the 2017 and 2016 financial years stemming from 

this plan was as follows: 

 

 

Table 6.24  ̶  Effect on the income statement

2017 2016

Cost of currents services 440 556 400 409

Cost of interest 581 828 669 878

Employee contributions -148 613 -156 306

Expected return on fund assets -503 501 -613 255

Total included in personnel costs and/or (other 

income and gains) 370 270 300 726

Unit: euro
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The effect of actuarial gains and losses recorded directly in equity for the years 2017 and 

2016 was as follows: 

Table 6.25  ̶  Effect on equity

2017 2016

Changes in discount rate 516 889 1 446 877

Difference between real and estimate return -623 484 396 645

Other actuarial (gains)/losses -110 392 -377 427

Total reduction (increase) -216 987 1 466 095

Unit: euro  

In addition, it should be noted that the Fund had a positive yield of about 5.4%. This fact, 

together with the negative effect resulting from the changes in the discount rate and the 

effect of other impacts resulting from the differences between the initial estimates of the 

study and the actual results, meant that the funding gap narrowed from 3 916 374 euros in 

2016 to 3 835 009 euros in 2017. This corresponds to an 87% coverage of the liabilities, 

which is still 23% above the minimum required by the Autoridade de Supervisão de Seguros 

e Fundos de Pensões (ASF – Authority for the Supervision of Insurance and Pension 

Funds).  

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the breakdown by type of assets held in 

the pension plan fund was as follows: 

Table 6.26  ̶  Assets by type

2017 2016

Bonds 57.8% 56.0%

Cash 2.7% 2.8%

Shares 29.2% 30.0%

Real estate 1.6% 2.6%

Absolute return 8.7% 8.6%

Total 100% 100%
 

15.2 Defined contribution plan 

As mentioned in Note 4.10.2, all staff on permanent contracts are covered by a retirement 

plan with defined contributions; under it, a fund was established that was initially managed 

by the Sociedade Gestora de Fundos de Pensões (Banif Açor Pensões), then afterwards 

by Sociedade Gestora de Fundos de Pensões (CGD Pensões), and after 14 August 2014 

by BPI-Vida e Pensões, Companhia de Seguros, S.A. 
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Under the terms and conditions of the Plan, ANACOM is committed to making contributions 

ranging from 1% (fixed monthly contribution) to 2% of salary cost, with the latter depending 

on the employee contributing at least 1%. 

If the contract is terminated, the contributions made by each employee up to that date revert 

in their favour, plus the respective return in each year. However, participation units that were 

acquired with contributions from ANACOM are only reimbursed to leaving employees in 

accordance with their active service time and based on six seniority levels. 

In 2017 and 2016, the value of the defined contributions of ANACOM to the Retirement 

pension plan amounted to 303 640 euros and 300 491 euros, respectively, and is recorded 

in Personnel costs. 

15.3 Defined benefit healthcare plan 

As at 31 December 2017, there were 86 ANACOM staff (active and retired) who were not 

covered by the Social Security healthcare or benefits schemes. They are instead insured 

by the Instituto de Obras Sociais dos CTT (CTT’s Institute for Social Works – IOS) and by 

PT-ACS, including for medical care, medication, hospital admissions, associated diagnostic 

tests and nursing services, besides other social benefits, under an agreement between IOS 

and ANACOM. 

The liabilities with defined benefits and the corresponding annual costs were determined 

through actuarial calculations, using the projected unit credit method, carried out by an 

independent actuary based on assumptions that reflect the demographic conditions of the 

population covered by the plan and the economic and financial conditions prevailing at time 

of calculation. 

According to the actuarial study by the consultant WillisTowersWatson, the current amount 

of liabilities in respect of healthcare, as at 31 December 2017, was 4 283 000 euros. 

The principal actuarial assumptions used in the calculation are as shown below: 
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Table  6.27  ̶  Actuarial assumptions

2017 2016

Annual discount rate 1.86% 2.00%

Inflation rate

Annual growth in healthcare costs

Administrative costs

Invalidity table

Mortality table

Retirement age 66 anos+n.º meses

2.00%

50% EKV 80

TV 88/90

A fixed cost value was used based on the 

management commission paid to IOS and 

the structure costs associated with the 

3.50%

 

The following assumptions were also considered: 

• percentage of married employees – at the date of retirement, disability or death, it is 

assumed that 55% of male participants and 15% of female participants will include 

their respective spouse in the scheme; it was also assumed that male spouses are 

on average three years older than their female partners. 

• number of children – at the date of retirement, disability or death, an average of 1.5 

children per married participant is assumed, and each child is assumed to be 30 

years younger than the respective participant. 

In this financial year the actuarial assumption of the discount rate used was adjusted from 

2.4% to 1.86%, resulting in liabilities increasing by 84 000 euros.  

At 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the sum of liabilities recognized in the 

balance sheet is as shown below: 

Table 6.28  ̶  Recognized liabilities

2017 2016

Present value of liabilities

Active and dependents 2 132 000 2 061 000 

Retired and dependents 2 151 000 2 168 000 

Total 4 283 000 4 229 000 

Unit: euro  

Movement in the 2017 and 2016 financial years in the current value of liabilities in respect 

of the healthcare plan was as follows: 
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Table 6.29  ̶  Present value of liabilities

2017 2016

As at 1 January 4 229 000 4 537 000

Cost of current services 57 972 65 972

Cost of interest 83 000 107 000

Payment of benefits by ANACOM -93 972 -93 972

Change in assumptions 84 000 -353 000

Other actuarial (gains)/losses -77 000 -34 000

As at 31 December 4 283 000 4 229 000

Unit: euro  

 

The effect on the income statements for the 2017 and 2016 financial years stemming from 

this plan was as follows: 

Table 6.30  ̶  Effect on income statement

2017 2016

Cost of current services 57 972 65 972 

Cost of interest 83 000 107 000 

Total included in Personnel costs 140 972 172 972 

Unit: euro  

 

The effects of actuarial gains and losses recorded directly in equity for the years 2017 and 

2016 were as follows: 

Table 6.31  ̶  Effect on equity

2017 2016

Changes in assumptions 84 000 -353 000

Other actuarial (gains)/losses -77 000 -34 000

Total included in Equity 7 000 -387 000

Unit: euro  

16 .  State and other public entities  

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the breakdown of payables to the State 

and other public entities was as follows: 
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Table 6.32  ̶  State and other public entities

2017 2016

Personal income tax 363 288 398 806 

Value added tax 22 258 44 827 

Social security 386 464 391 938 

Subtotal 772 010 835 571 

Social security -194 - 

Total 771 816 835 571 

Unit: euro  

 

17 . Other payables  

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the breakdown of Other payables was 

as follows: 

 

Table 6.33  ̶  Other payables

2017 2016

Current Current

Investment suppliers

General suppliers 961 977 281 514 

Cost additions

Remunerations 2 788 276 2 837 712 

Insurance payable 509 083 188 

DTT contribution 1 947 838 1 947 838 

Other 8 658 8 547 

Other creditors

Regulation fees to be refunded 6 594 6 594 

Sundry creditors 29 085 58 540 

6 251 512 5 140 933 

Unit: euro

Total

 

The item Investment suppliers relates mainly to the amounts billed for the purchase of 

equipment and materials incorporated in tangible and intangible fixed assets in progress. 

The increase is mostly the result of purchases made in December, whose payment deadline 

is in 2018. 
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The item Remuneration includes the liability of ANACOM with respect to holidays and 

holiday allowances, which were calculated based on the remuneration received in the last 

month of 2017. 

The item Insurance includes the amount payable in respect of insurance policies taken out 

by ANACOM when the premium receipts are issued in advance. The change year-on-year 

reflects accounting for the health insurance receipt, which did not happen in that year. 

The heading DTT contribution includes the amount related to a contribution payable under 

the change of the assignment of radio channels for the DTT service. The respective 

Administrative Order is awaiting publication. 

Regulation fees to be refunded concerns adjustments to the regulation fees pursuant to 

Article 105(5) of the ECL, recognized in 2016 and paid in 2017.   

The Sundry creditors item is mainly made up of small settlements of accounts with 

customers, suppliers, and staff regarding the management of insurance for accidents at 

work.  

 

18 . Expenses/reversals of depreciation and amortization 

In the financial years 2017 and 2016, this item is broken down as follows (Notes 7 and 8): 

Table 6.34  ̶  Depreciation and amortization costs

2017 2016

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets

Buildings and other constructions 246 533 237 136 

Basic equipment 1 029 343 1 173 918 

Transport equipment 4 275 24 988 

Administrative equipment 241 371 141 926 

Other tangible fixed assets 38 991 38 107 

1 560 513 1 616 075 

Amortization of intangible assets

Software 1 075 693 1 111 889 

Total 2 636 206 2 727 964 

Unit: euro  
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19 . Sponsorships 

In the financial year 2017 ANACOM granted the following sponsorships:  

Table 6.35  ̶  Sponsorships

Entity Initiative

2017

XXI National Meeting of Telecommunications 

Sector SMEs 4 991                 

Sponsorship of the DTT seminar 4 991                 

27th edition of the Communications Congress 7 985                 

Digital Business Conference e-comerce 4 991                 

Associação para a Promoção e Desenvolvimento 

da Sociedade da Informação (APDSI)

16th Arrábida Forum – Privacy and security in the 

information society in 2017
5 000                 

Associação de Radioamadores do Ribatejo (ARR) XIII Radio amateur Colloquium 1 000                 

Comité Português da URSI – União 

Radiocientífica Internacional
Best Student Paper Award (2017 edition) 

5 000                 

Instituto Superior Técnico   ̶  Prémio Abreu Faro
7th Doctoral Conference on Computing Electrical 

and Industrial Systems (DoCEIS'16) 3 000                 

AVEIRO-EXPO  ̶  Parque de Exposições, E.M. Techdays Aveiro 2017 3 683                 

Instituto de Telecomunicações (IT) CROWNCOM 2017 1 000                 

Associação Portuguesa de Radiodifusão (APR) 14.º National Broadcasting Congress 3 683                 

Rede dos Emissores Portugueses (REP) Project ATECA-1 500                    

Universidade de Coimbra IM2017 (IFIP/IEEE) event 2 456                 

Associação de Eletrónica, Telecomunicações e 

Telemática da Universidade de Aveiro (AETTUA)

III Congress Conversas do Éter (Chats about the 

ether) 300                    

48 579               

Cost with value 

allocated

Associação Empresarial de Comunicações de 

Portugal (ACIST)

Associação Portuguesa para o Desenvolvimento 

das Comunicações (APDC)

 

Under the terms of Article 8(1)(r)(s) of its articles of association, as well as the guidelines 

for ANACOM sponsorships, approved by decision of the Board of Directors, this Authority 

regularly sponsors various initiatives relevant to the regulator’s performance objectives and 

to the communications sector, which may help to disseminate information about the sector 

and its activity, and contribute to the debate about priority issues, as well as promote 

scientific research applied to communications and the training of its staff. 

In 2017, ANACOM received 37 requests for sponsorship, 12 of which were granted, 19 

refused, three missed the opportunity and two were carried over to 2018.  

Of the 12 sponsorships granted, two were institutional in nature (no value assigned), and 

two relate to events that will only take place in 2018. 

The 12 sponsorships granted mostly relate to specific events promoted by entities 

representing or operating in the communications sector. 
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As for the issues covered by sponsored initiatives, most of them focus on electronic 

communications, including radiocommunications, ITED, and other topics of transversal 

sectoral relevance. 

It should be noted that the sum approved for sponsorships in 2017 includes other related 

processes such as the ANACOM-URSI Portugal and Best Student Paper Award, granted 

through the Portuguese Committee of URSI - International Union of Radio Science. 

20 . Interest and similar income 

In the years 2017 and 2016, this item is broken down as follows:  

Table 6.36  ̶  Interest and similar income

2017 2016

Late payment interest 31 892 22 810 

Interest on financial investments 386 568 363 065 

Total 418 460 385 875 

Unit: euro  

The increase in the item related to Interest on financial investments results from the increase 

in the average amount of capital invested in financial investments, commonly known as 

CEDIC. 

 

21 . Commitments 

Commitments regarding the purchase of assets   

As at 31 December 2017 around 1 389 623 euros was subject to contracts, including VAT 

(2016: 585 928 euros), for the acquisition of tangible and intangible fixed assets, of which 

622 411 euros (2016: 339 833 euros) has been paid. 

Commitments regarding operating leases  

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the minimum value of future rents payable 

under non-cancellable operating leases was as follows: 
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2017 2016

Up to 1 year 1 459 275 1 590 802 

Between 1 and 5 years 1 233 371 2 252 075 

Total 2 692 646 3 842 877 

Unit: euro

Table 6.37  ̶  Leasing commitments

 

In 2017 these rents relate to: (i) the lease of one building and part of another on Av. José 

Malhoa where ANACOM head office is located, with a sum payable of 2 202 031 euros; (ii) 

the rent of nine plots where the remote SINCRER stations are installed, with a sum payable 

of 77 091 euros; (iii) the leasing of 51 vehicles, under an operational leasing contract (AOV) 

for periods ranging between 48 and 78 months, with maintenance management included, 

and 33 contracts with tyre management, replacement vehicle and insurance, amounting to 

402 079 euros, not including the option to purchase; (iv) the leasing of printing and copying 

equipment, with a payable sum amounting to 11 445 euros.  

In the 2017 financial year, External supplies and services reports expenses incurred through 

the mentioned operating leases amounting to 1 595 420 euros (of which 1 196 971 euros 

relates to the renting of buildings, 27 122 euros relates to the renting of plots, 233 985 euros 

relates to the leasing of vehicles, and 137 342 euros relates to the leasing of printing and 

copying equipment). In 2016 the value recorded was 1 594 855 euros. 

 

22. Accounting policies, alterations in accounting estimates and errors 

In the present financial year, it has not been necessary to amend estimates or to register 

errors relating to prior financial years. 

23. Contingencies 

23.1 Guarantees 

ANACOM has no bank guarantees issued in favour of third parties. 
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23.2 Contingent liabilities 

Judicial proceedings 

As at 31 December 2017, ANACOM faced legal proceedings brought by operators in the 

context of its regulatory activity against which the Board of Directors did not consider it 

necessary to constitute provision, since the amounts sought were not indicated in the 

actions brought and there were no credible estimates to support such constitution.  

23.3 Contingent assets 

As at 31 December 2017, legal proceedings for compensation were under way in respect 

of the incident in a previous year affecting the philatelic property, as mentioned in Note 8. 

ANACOM estimates that the compensation payment will be around 377 273 euros. 

However, as at the date of the balance sheet there is still no confirmation that ANACOM will 

receive this sum.  

24 . Related parties 

24.1 Remuneration of corporate bodies 

In accordance with NCRF 5, the members of ANACOM’s Board of Directors are related 

parties by virtue of their fundamental role in its management.  

In the 2017 and 2016 financial years, the remuneration awarded to the members of the 

Board of Directors and the Audit Committee was as follows: 

Table 6.38  ̶  Board remuneration

2017 2016

Board of Directors 845 767 967 421 

Audit Committee 49 594 49 594 

Total 895 360 1 017 015 

Unit: euro  

In 2017 there was a change in the composition of the Board of Directors as well as the rules 

for setting their remuneration. 
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The monthly remuneration of members of the Board of Directors, from the beginning of the 

year until its replacement, was set by Joint Order of the Ministers of State and of Finance, 

and of Economy, from August 2003, and up to July 2017 it was as follows: 

• Chair of the Board of Directors 15 868.89 euros 

• Vice-chair and Members of the Board of Directors 13 488.56 euros 

The remuneration of the new members of the Board of Directors, in accordance with Article 

25 of the Framework Law on Independent Administrative Entities (Law 67/2013 of 28 

August, as amended by Law 12/2017 of 2 May), was established by the salaries committee, 

which fixed the monthly salary and the monthly allowance of representation expenses, in 

the following amounts: 

• Chairman of the Board of Directors:  8255 euros (14 payments) + 40% of the 

respective salary (12 payments), for 

representation expenses. 

• Vice-chair and Members of the Board of Directors: 7249.5 euros (14 payments) + 40% of 

the respective salary (12 payments), for 

representation expenses 

On 15 August 2017, the new Chairman of the Board of Directors of ANACOM, appointed 

pursuant to Resolution of the Council of Ministers 120/2017 of 4 September 2017, took 

office, which took effect on that same date. 

No retirement pension liability is incurred for members of the above bodies. 

24.2 Universal Service Compensation Fund (FCSU) 

Law 35/2012 of 23 August creates the electronic communications universal service 

compensation fund mentioned in Article 97(2) of the ECL, and establishes the criterion for 

the sharing of the universal service net costs between the companies that are required to 

contribute to it. The compensation fund aims to finance the net costs resulting from the 

provision of the electronic communications universal service. 

The compensation fund observes the principles of transparency, non-discrimination, 

proportionality, and minimum market distortion. The financing of the US net costs is 
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sustained by sharing them between the companies that provide public communications 

networks and/or publicly available electronic communications and services, in the national 

territory. For this purpose, the compensation fund holds contributions from those 

companies. 

The compensation fund is an autonomous public asset, without legal personality, under the 

administration of ANACOM, which, as the managing body, is in charge of its legal 

representation. The compensation fund is in no way liable for the debts of the managing 

body, nor is that body responsible for fund’s credits. The accounting of the compensation 

fund is autonomous and separate from ANACOM’s accounting. As the managing body, 

ANACOM is responsible for organizing the accounting of the compensation fund in 

accordance with SNC standards. The compensation fund’s Report and the accounts are 

subject to an opinion prepared by a statutory auditor or chartered accountant, and are 

published and sent to the Government minister responsible for the area of communications. 

It is up do ANACOM to carry out all acts necessary for the good management of the 

compensation fund, notably:  

(i) to manage and ensure the collection of contributions from the companies that provide 

public communications networks and/or publicly available electronic communications 

services, in the national territory;  

(ii) to manage the transfers and payments to be made to the universal service provider(s);  

(iii) to manage the financial resources of the compensation fund; 

(iv) to draw up and publish, once a year, a report with the calculated cost of US obligations, 

stating the contributions made to the compensation fund by all companies involved. 

ANACOM can, at any time, undertake all the acts required to perform the functions 

established by law, in particular to request and obtain relevant information from the 

companies offering public communications networks and/or publicly available electronic 

communications services, and to instigate auditing activities. 

. 
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24.3 Fundação Portuguesa das Comunicações - Portuguese Communications 

Foundation (FPC) 

On 6 October 1997, ANACOM, Portugal Telecom, S.A. and CTT ─ Correios de Portugal, 

S.A., founded the Fundação Portuguesa das Comunicações (FPC – Portuguese 

Communications Foundation) and approved its Articles of Association. 

The purpose of FPC is to promote the study, conservation and dissemination of the historic, 

scientific and technological heritage in the communications area. It also carries out activities 

involving research and cooperation, making its assets available for research and spreading 

information on the sector’s historic evolution and new technologies and services, and 

contributing to the socio-economic development of the country and community, in the past, 

present and future 

The FPC is a non-profit private foundation, and annually receives from its Founders the 

assets and economic support needed to fulfil its social interest purposes. 

The FPC bodies are: (i) Board of Directors; (ii) Executive Board; and (iii) Statutory Auditor  

The Board of Directors is made up of an odd number of members, with at least one 

representative from each Founder member, and five members at the most. The 

responsibilities of the Board of Directors include: (i) to set the Foundation’s general 

operating policies; (ii) to approve the budgets and annual or multiannual activity plans 

proposed by the Executive Board; (iii) to annually evaluate, discuss and approve the report 

on the activities, balance sheets and accounts, and the report on the inventory of assets 

prepared by the Executive Board, after the opinion of the Statutory Auditor has been 

obtained; (iv) to set the remuneration of the board members; (v) to represent the 

Foundation.  

On 13 August 2015, the founders proceeded to partly amend its Articles of Association, 

thereby establishing its current nature as private and non-profit. Its first Article states that 

each founding member grants the Foundation, every year, the economic support needed to 

carry out its social interest purposes, while Article 21 confirms that such allocation is made 

through the payment of a sum, in the month of January, intended to support the operating 

expenses. That article also states that the ‘the value relating to costs with employees who 

may be seconded or assigned by the Founders at the express request of the Foundation, 
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will be included each year in the Foundation’s budget, to be approved by the Board of 

Directors’. Article 22 concludes that ‘the operating expenses of the Foundation, including 

the provision of employees as mentioned in the previous article, will be shared by the 

Founders, in accordance with the annual budget to be approved’. 

On 10 September 2015 there was an amendment to the Framework-Law of Foundations 

(Law 150/2015), approved by Law 24/2012 of 9 July, by which the FPC is bound. 

ANACOM, as a founding member, has borne part of FPC’s operating costs, recording the 

following sums in the financial statements of the financial years ended on 31 December 

2017 and 2016: 

Table 6.39  ̶  FPC costs

2017 2016

Funding 195 000 204 000 

Costs for allocated personnel 276 323 268 049 

Other provisions of service 1 722 1 767 

Total FPC costs 473 045 473 816 

Unit: euro  

The annual contribution made in the 2017 financial year followed the procedure set out in 

Article 14 of the State Budget Law for 2017 (Law 42/2016 of 28 December) and in 

Administrative Rule 114/2016 of 17 March.  

Under the terms of the aforementioned Administrative Rule, Inspeção-Geral de Finanças 

(IGF), upon ANACOM’s request, issued on 28 December 2017 a favourable opinion 

regarding the transfer to be made, having set a ceiling for overall costs with the Foundation.  

Having complied with the legal formalities, ANACOM’s Board of Directors decided on 28 

December 2017, through an order, to authorize the transfer of 195 000 euros to the 

Foundation. 

25. Other relevant information 

25.1 Autoridade da Concorrência (AdC – Competition Authority) 

Decree-Law 125/2014 of 18 August, which approves the articles of association of the AdC, 

established that it is financed by the fees charged under this Authority’s specific activity, as 

well as by payments from sectoral regulatory authorities, such as ANACOM, through the 
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application of a fee based on the total revenues of those regulatory authorities and collected 

in the last financial year, defined by the annual publication of an administrative rule. 

Article 35 specifies that that fee is fixed by 31 July of each year, through an administrative 

rule by the Government ministers responsible for the area of finance and the main area of 

economic activity of the regulatory authority, and shall come into effect in the following 

calendar year. It also establishes that if that administrative rule is not published within the 

time limit, the fee applicable for the next calendar year will be the average value of the 

period mentioned in that Article (between 5.5% and 7%), which is 6.25%. 

Therefore, each month ANACOM transferred the sums given by applying the exception 

system provided for in the AdC’s articles of association, i.e. 6.25% on the previous year’s 

revenue, since the relevant administrative rule had not been published.  

ANACOM recorded the amount of 5 271 077 euros (2016 ─ 5 005 396 euros) as an 

expense in the 2017 financial year, which was transferred to AdC on a monthly basis. 

25.2 Spectrum auction 

In 2012 ANACOM carried out an auction for the allocation of rights-of-use of various 

frequencies. The regime applying to the auction was established by Regulation 560-A/2011, 

approved by ANACOM’s Board of Directors on 17 October 2011 and published on 19 

October 2011.  

Following a decision of the Board of Directors, of 6 January 2012, approving the final report 

on the auction, including the corresponding allocation of rights of use of frequencies, the 

auction yielded a final amount of 372 million euros.  

Under the terms of Article 30 of the auction Regulations the final amounts would be paid by 

the winning bidder within five days of the notification of the final decision, except for entities 

that were allocated rights in the 800 MHz and 900 MHz frequency bands, which could 

choose to pay one third (1/3) of the price of the spectrum obtained in those frequencies in 

five equal instalments over the next five years, which implied the provision of new warranties 

to ANACOM. The bank guarantees were presented and the corresponding sums were 

reduced in January 2013, according to the payments made.  
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Meanwhile, Administrative Rule 218/2012 of 19 July determined that the income from the 

spectrum auction should be handed to the State in full, with particular reference to the 272 

million euros already paid to ANACOM, as well as future revenue from the deferred payment 

of one third (1/3) of the price of the 800 and 900 MHz frequency bands. ANACOM handed 

those sums. 

The preamble of Administrative Rule 218/2012 clarified that pursuant to Decree-Laws 151-

A/2000 of 20 July, 167/2006 of 16 August, 264/2009 of 28 September, and Law 20/2012 of 

14 May, ‘(…) whenever the frequency allocation procedure defined by law for ANACOM is 

an auction, the amount of the consideration paid by the interested parties for the allocation 

of frequencies is that Authority’s revenue, under the terms of its articles of association, while 

the government, through an administrative rule of the members responsible for the 

electronic communications and finance areas, may determine that it should be handed to 

the State.’ 

The mentioned Administrative Rule unequivocally stated that the revenue from the 

spectrum auction does not belong to ANACOM but to the State, which is why it is not 

included in ANACOM’s income statement and balance sheet. It is nonetheless worth 

disclosing the fact in the Notes since ANACOM remains responsible for collecting the 

revenue and managing the guarantees provided by the entities allocated frequencies under 

this auction. 

For the reason stated above, in accounting terms, ANACOM did not record any revenue 

relating to the consideration paid under the multiband spectrum auction, and its balance 

sheet does not mention any amount relative to sums yet to be paid by the auction’s winning 

bidders since it follows the rules established by SNC, i.e.: 

(i) regarding the sums received, the lack of economic benefits for the entity precludes the 

recognition of the income, since it can only be recognized if it is likely that future 

economic benefits will flow to the entity, and such benefits can be reliably measured; 

(ii) with respect to the receivables from the winning bidders, they are not deemed assets 

for ANACOM since, as previously mentioned, the sums paid by the winning bidders are 

not an economic benefit for ANACOM, but rather for the State. 
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So, as shown on the following chart, 272 million euros was charged in January 2012, 20 

million euros in January 2013, 36 014 363 euros in January 2014, 14 million euros in 

January 2015, 14 million euros in January 2016, and 14 million euros in January 2017. 

In 2014, an operator made an advance payment of the part relating to years 2015 to 2017, 

in the initial sum of 18 million euros, having benefited from a reduction calculated on the 

basis of the discount rate specified in Article 30(9) of the auction Regulations, which 

amounted to 1 935 637 euros. 

In 2017, the mechanism for the collection and delivery of these funds to the State by 

ANACOM was terminated, with the remaining 14 million euros, at the date of approval of 

the accounts, effectively received and transferred to the State, as shown in Table 6.40.  

Table 6.40  ̶  Spectrum auction

Income for the 

State

372 000 000

Received and transferred to the State in 2012 -272 000 000

-20 000 000

-20 000 000

-16 014 363

-1 985 637

Received and transferred to the State in 2015 -14 000 000

Received and transferred to the State in 2016 -14 000 000

Received and transferred to the State in 2017 -14 000 000

To receive and transfer to  the State - 

Unit: euro

Received and transferred to the State in 2013

Proceeds from the auction

Received and transferred to the State in 2014

Received and transferred to the State in 2014 

relating to years 2015 to 2017

Benefit for advance payment (Article 30(9) of the 

Regulations)

 

26. Information required by law 

Under Article 21(1) of Decree-Law 411/91 of 17 October, ANACOM confirms that it does 

not owe any contributions to Social Security and that it has no outstanding debt to the 

National Exchequer. 

The Financial and Administrative Director  

Fernando Carreiras 
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The Board of Directors 

João Cadete de Matos 

João Miguel Coelho 

Isabel Areia 

Sandro Mendonça 

Paula Meira Lourenço
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7. Report of the Audit Committee 

1. Summary of activities  

Pursuant to the legal and statutory provisions, specifically as laid down in Article 33(d) of the 

Statutes of ICP - AUTORIDADE NACIONAL DE COMUNICAÇÕES (now ANACOM), approved by 

Decree-Law 309/2001 of 7 December, as amended by Article 5(3)(4) of Decree-Law 39/2015 of 

16 March, it is incumbent upon this Committee to present a report of our inspection and to issue 

our opinion on the Annual Report and Accounts of ANACOM for the financial year ended 31 

December 2017. 

The Audit Committee held meetings and examined the most relevant aspects of ANACOM’s 

management, and: 

- has examined the available financial information on a sampling basis, with a favourable result; 

 - has taken note of the External Audit Report drawn up by Ernst & Young Audit & Associados - 

Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas, S.A., responsible for auditing the accounts of 

ANACOM for the 2017 financial year; the Auditors cooperated with the Chartered Accountant 

in the exercise of the latter’s specific functions. 

We have examined the Report and Accounts of ANACOM, as presented by the Board of 

Directors, and have ascertained their accuracy and detail as regards their characterisation of the 

activity carried out during financial year 2017. 

2. Activity of ANACOM 

ANACOM is a legal person governed by public law, endowed with administrative and financial 

autonomy and its own assets; its mission is to regulate the communications sector, including 

electronic and postal communications and to assist the Government in accordance with its 

statutes and the law. 

As regards ANACOM’s activity, we refer to the 2017 Management Report, which summarises the 

main events of the financial year under consideration. 

3. Annual Report and Accounts 2017 

The Audit Committee has carried out its work to verify the financial, accounting, administrative 

and management aspects reported in the Annual Report and Accounts and to issue an opinion 

thereon. This matter is governed by the provisions of ANACOM’s Statutes and also by those 
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provisions generally applicable to corporate public entities. 

The 2017 Annual Report and Accounts submitted by the Board of Directors clearly sets out the 

macro-economic and sectoral framework in which ANACOM operates and describes its activities. 

It also explains developments in human and material resources and reports on the economic and 

financial situation for the financial year ending 31 December 2017. 

The financial statements and accounting system supporting them fully comply with the Sistema 

de Normalização Contabilística (Accounting Standardisation System), and they properly and 

substantively express ANACOM’s asset position as at 31 December 2017, as well as the results 

of its operations, changes in equity and cash flows in the financial year ending on that date. 

3.1. Balance Sheet 

The basic structure of the Balance Sheet reported by ANACOM as at 31 December 2017 is as 

follows: 

                                                                                                                                                                                Euro 

Item 2017 2016 

Change 

Amount % 

Assets 227 347 848 205 409 510 22 156 953 10.68% 

Equity 129 125 279 121 599 514 7 525 765 6.19% 

Liabilities 98 222 569 83 809 996 14 412 573 17.20% 

The gain in Assets is largely due to the increase recorded in Cash and cash equivalents, 

combined with a decrease in receivables (307 956 euros) and an increase in invoicing. 

The proportion of equity in the balance sheet decreased from 63% to 59%, and it was found that 

during the financial period the provisions of Administrative Rule 89/2017 of 1 March were applied, 

resulting in the following impacts on Equity: 

 An increase in Investment Reserves, in the amount of 2 204 531 euros, as a result of the 

retained net income relating to the 2015 financial year;  
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 A reduction in Retained Earnings, in the sum of 20 882 630 euros, as a result of the 

distribution of net income for 2015, which were transferred to the Treasury. 

We also note the following transfers, resulting from applying the above Administrative Rule: 

 Transfer to the European Space Agency (ESA) of 1 760 000 euros; 

 Transfer to Instituto do Cinema e do Audiovisual, I.P. (Cinema and Audio-visual Institute) 

the sum of 6 151 379 euros. 

Regarding Liabilities, there is an increase of about 17% compared with 2016. We highlight here 

the increase reported in Provisions (12 856 173 euros) which is approximately 83% of total 

liabilities. 

The rest of the changes are not very significant, and they are justified and duly substantiated in 

both the Management Report for 2017 and the Report and Accounts of the same year. 

3.2. Income Statement 

In terms of income, the following table shows the change occurring in the present financial period 

relative to 2016. As follows: 

Euro 

Item 2017 2016 

Change 

Amount % 

Income 91 149 209 85 375 438 5 773 771 6.76% 

Expenses 55 035 532 49 403 742 5 631 790 11.40% 

Net income for period 36 113 677 35 971 696 141 981 0.39% 

The following aspects are noted with regard to ANACOM’s Income Statement: 

 Compared with the previous year, income increased by around 7%, while expenditure 

rose approximately 11%. Total net income in 2017 therefore reached 36 113 677 euros, 

141 981 euros more than in 2016. 
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 The increase in income stems primarily from the increase in income from provision of 

services, constituting an increase of 5 773 771 euros compared with 2016. 

 Expenditure rose nearly 11% over 2016, mostly resulting from the need to reinforce 

provisions to deal with legal actions brought against ANACOM, which were 4 165 538 

euros higher in this period. 

Other changes are set out and duly grounded in the 2017 Management Report and the 2017 

Annual Report and Accounts. 

4. Other situations 

Pension funds 

As mentioned in note 15 of the Annex, ANACOM constituted a separate pension fund on 1 

October 1996 to cover and fund liabilities in respect of the payment of pensions to staff transferred 

from former CTT- Correios e Telecomunicações, E.P.. In addition to this fund, ANACOM also 

operated a defined contribution pension plan. 

According to the actuarial study conducted by the company managing this pension fund - BPI - 

Pensões, as at 31 December 2017 the present value of total liabilities in respect of active and 

retired staff transferred from former CTT and integrated into ANACOM was estimated at 

29 602 387 euros, whereas the fund’s assets were given a fair value of 25 767 378 euros. As a 

result of this difference, a liability of 3 835 009 euros is recognised in ANACOM’s balance sheet. 

At the same time, and based on the actuarial study on health care, an increase of 84 000 euros 

was applied, primarily as a result of the change in the discount rate, which was reduced from 2% 

to 1.86%, in accordance with recommended market practices. 

Ongoing legal proceedings. 

In the year under review, ANACOM added to Provisions in the sum of 12 856 173 euros, resulting 

in a balance of 81 638 216 euros as at 31 December 2017. This amount results from appraisal of 

the liabilities in question. As at 31 December 2017, there were 155 legal actions in progress (an 

increase of 35 over 31 December 2016), the majority of which relate to proceedings brought to 

contest acts arising from regulatory activity in the area of electronic communications, regulatory 

action in the area of postal services and acts challenging radio fee settlements. Of these actions, 

86 involve claims for compensation. Following a meeting held with ANACOM’s legal department, 

we became aware of how these legal proceedings are progressing and can conclude that the 
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amount of provisions set up to cope with any unfavourable outcomes is appropriate. 

5. Opinion 

In light of the above, it is our opinion that the following should be approved: 

a) the Annual Report and Accounts, as submitted by the Board of Directors of ANACOM, 

for the year ending 31 December 2017; and 

b) the proposed allocation of net profits for 2017, amounting to 36 113 677 euros, as follows: 

 "Delivery to the State" of 14 258 239 euros, which represents the increase in the 

frequency usage fees resulting from the provisions of Administrative Rule  

378-D/2013 of 31 December, since the increase in fees was ordered by the 

Government for this purpose; 

 Distribution of the remaining amount of 21 855 438 euros as follows: 

 the sum of 2 530 849 euros to “Investment Reserves” (interest earned from 

IGCP + 10% of the remaining value) to be used in the constitution of statutory 

capital pursuant to Administrative Rule 1534-A/2002 of 23 December; 

 “Delivery to the State” of 19 324 589 euros (90% of the remaining amount), 

which sum will be recorded under “Retained Earnings” until actual delivery 

to the State takes place.  

The Audit Committee acknowledges and would like to express its gratitude for all the cooperation 

which has been provided by ANACOM’s Board of Directors and all the Services contacted. 

 

Lisbon, 19 April 2018 

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Dr. Henrique Armando Antunes Ferreira, Chair 

OLIVEIRA, REIS & ASSOCIADOS, SROC, LDA. 

Represented by 

Dr. Joaquim Oliveira de Jesus, ROC no 1056, Member 

Dr. Duarte Nuno de Carvalho Gomes de Castro, Member 
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8. Audit report 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Anacom - Autoridade Nacional de 

Comunicações (the Authority), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2017 

(which shows a total of 227 347 848 euros and a total equity of 129 125 279 euros, including a 

net profit for the year of 36 113 677 euros), and the Income Statement by Nature, the Statement 

of Changes in Equity and the Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present the financial position of Anacom - 

Autoridade Nacional de Comunicações fairly and appropriately, in all material respects, at 31 

December 2017, along with its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 

in accordance with the Financial Accounting Reporting Standards adopted in Portugal through 

the Accounting Standardization System (“Sistema de Normalização Contabilística”). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and with 

other standards and technical directives of the Institute of Statutory Auditors (“Ordem dos 

Revisores Oficiais de Contas”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described 

in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. 

We are independent of the Authority in accordance with the law and we comply with the ethical 

requirements of the code of ethics of the Institute of Statutory Auditors. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial 

statements 

Management is responsible for: 

► preparing financial statements that present the Authority’s financial position, financial 

performance and cash flows in a true and proper manner in accordance with the Financial 

Accounting Reporting Standards adopted in Portugal through the Accounting 

Standardization System;  
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► preparing the Management Report, including the Corporate Governance Report, in 

accordance with the law and regulations; 

► creating and maintaining an appropriate internal control system to enable the preparation 

of financial statements that are free from material misstatement due to either fraud or 

error; 

► adopting accounting policies and principles appropriate for the circumstances; and 

► assessing the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, when 

applicable, matters that might raise significant questions as to the continuation of 

operations. 

The supervisory body is responsible for overseeing the Authority’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement due either to fraud or error, and to issue a report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when 

there is one. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or jointly, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

taken by users on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an ISA audit, we make professional judgments and maintain professional reservation 

during the audit, and we also: 

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures that respond to those risks, and obtain 

audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the overriding of internal control. 

► Obtain an understanding of the internal control relevant to the audit for the purpose of 

designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not to express 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. 
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► Evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and any disclosures made by management. 

► Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Authority’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 

we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the Authority to discontinue its activities. 

► Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that amounts to proper presentation. 

► Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant failings in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

► Determine which of the matters communicated to those in charge of governance, including 

the supervisory body, were the most important in auditing the financial statements for the 

current year and which are the relevant audit matters. We describe these matters in our 

report, except when the law or regulation prohibits their public disclosure.  

► Declare to the supervisory body that we comply with the relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence and communicate all relationships and other matters that may 

be perceived as threats to our independence and, where applicable, the respective 

safeguards. 

Our responsibility also includes checking the consistency of the information contained in the 

Management Report with the financial statements. 

 

Lisbon, 19 April 2018 
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